INTHE HIGH COURT OF THE FEDERAL CAPITAL TERRITORY
IN THE ABUJA JUDICIAL INVISION
HOLDEN AT JABI

THIS THURSDAY, THE 28" DAY OF MARCH, 2024,

BEFORE: HON. JUSTICE ABUBAKAR IDRIS KUTIGI — JUDGE

CHARGE NO: CIR/151/2020

BETWIEN:

FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF NIGERIA  vvoiivvvneniine LCOMPLAINANT
AND
I MOHAMMED BELLO ADOKE i

2. ALIYU ABUBAKAR

3. RASKY GBINIGIE

4 MALABU OIL AND GAS LIMITED ?

S NIGERIA AGIP EXPLORATION LIMITED
o SHELL NIGERIA ULTRA DEEP LIMITED

7. SHELL NIGERIA EXPLORATION PRODUCTION
COMPANY LIMITED )

RULING

The Delendants were charped with varying offences and arraigned on o Forty
(0 Counds lurther Amended charze dated 19 February, 2023 and filed sn 3™
February, 2023 at the Court’s Regisiry, The Defendants all pleaded not goilly

fi the Counts contained therein,
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A summary of the Amended Forey (40) Counts charge shows that the 1", 4™,
S, 6™ and 7™ Defendants were charged under Count 1 with conspiring 1o
commit an olfence in April 2011, 16 wit: Public Scrvant ¢ 1sobeying direction of
L wilh intent W cause injury contrary 10 the provision ol Section 97 (1) of the
Pemal Caode. Cap 332 1IN (Abuja) 1990 and punishable under Seetion 123 of

Lhie sime Al

The 1" Defendant was solely charged under Count 2 with the ollence of
knowingly disobeying the direction aof the law to wit: the Companics Ineome
Tax Cap. Cap C21 LIN (2004) by sceking 1o save 5™, 6" and 7™ Defendanis
lrimy charges of Taxes 0 which they are lisble by law to the Vederal
Government of Nigeria through the OPL 245 Resolution Agrecment contrry o
the pravision of Seetion 123 (¢} of the Penal Code and punishable under the
provision ol Section 123 of the same Acl.

Ihe 4™, 5" 6" and 7" Defendants were Juintly charged under Count 3 with
the offence of abetting the 1™ delendant 1o disobey the direction of the law by
saving them lrem charges of taxes 1o which they are fiable by law to the Federnl
Lavermment contrary o the provision of Scction 85 of the Penal Code and

punishable under Section 123 ol the same Acl,

The 2™ Defendant was charged alonc under Count 4 of olfering gratification
o the sum ol N3O0, 000, 000 (Three Hundred Million Maira) 1o the 17
wable under Section 118 of the Penal Code.,

Defendant contrary 1o and punis

Following from Count d, the 1% defendant was charged under Count Sthal
whilst being the Attorney-General and Minister of Justice ol the Vederstion of
having aceepted gratification in the sum of N300, 000, 000 {Three Hondred
Million Naira) in the exercise ol his ofTicial finetions contrary o the provision
ol Section 116 (b) of the Penal Code and punishable under Seetion 116 of the

smne Al

The 3™ Defendant was charged with others now gl large i Counts 6-20 with
ellenees ranging lrom conspitacy to commil crimingl breach of trust; ahetiing
Others now at farge 1o dishonestly convert various sums of momnics from Malabu
Chl and Gas (MOGL) accounts domiciled with Kevstone Bank and First Bank
ol Migeriy Lid; conspiraey 1o commil lelony to wit lorgery: conspiracy 1o make
filse documents; making fulse documents and using them as senuine which are
nlfences contrary o the provisions of’ Sections 363 and 366 of the Penal Code
and punishable under Seetion 364 of the sume Act
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Phercafier, the matter procceded o il on 4" November, 2021, The
proseeution calied in total ten (10) witnesses and 23 documentary ixhibits
were lendered through them in evidence und marked as Exhibits PIa and b to
P23, Indeed seven () of the Lxhibits were admited turing the cross-
cxamination of some of the witnesses of the prosecution.  The prosecution
nally closed its case on 19" October, 2023,

At the close ol the prosceution’s ease, all Senior learned Counsel for the
defendants clected 1o make a no case 10 answer submission and with the
agrecment of all counsel in the matter, the court ordered for the filing of written
acdresses inrespeet of the no case to answer submissions,

The 1" defencant’s address is dated 3 November. 2023 and liled samne duole al
the Courl’s Registry.  In the address no issuc was distilled as arising for
determination but the address which forms part of the Record of Courl dealt st
lenath with the principles guiding the no case 1o answer submission i relation
Lo the evidence led by the prosceation ot trial and i was comicnded that
absolutely ne prima facic case has been made ol against 1™ defendant requiring

him i enter a defence,

. I . | - th
'he 2% defondant’s address is dated & Movember, 2023 and Glod on 7
November. 2023, In the address, one issuc was distilled as arising lor

delermmnalion:

“Considering Count 4 of the Further Amended charge dated 1™ February,
HIZ3 as framed, (he terse evidence presented by the prosecution, the
tpplicable laws und judicial precedents, whether this Honourable Courl
will not accede to the applicants humble application of a no case

submisgion.”

Submissions were equally made on the above issue which forms parl ol ihe
Bevord of Couet 1o the effeel that on the Taets snd the applicable principles of
v the prosceution has not made out a prima facie eqse ngainst 2™ defendant
requiring him 1o enter a de lence,

On the part of the 3™ defendant, his address is dated 7 MNovember, 2023 and
(led same date w the Court's registry. In the address, onc issue was raisid i3

aasing lor determination:

“Whether the 3™ defendant is not entitled to be discharged and acquitted

on 4 na ease submission in this suit.™
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Submissions were equally made on the above issue which ulso loms part of the
IRecord of Court and it equally projects the case that on the evidence, nothing
hirs heen profTeved that will necessitate the 3™ defendant pulting in his delenee,

e ndidress of 4" defendant is dated 8" November. 2023 and filed on 9%
November. 2023, In the address, three (3) issues were raised as arising lor

determmation:

# Having regard to the evidence of the Prosccution Witnesses (PW1-
PWI0Y and the facts clicited from cross-examination as well as the
exhibiis tendered in the course of the proceedings, whether the
Prosecution las made out a ease to warrant the 4" Defendant to enter a

defence in this case,

b. Having regard to the facts and circumstances of this case as well as the
provisions of Scetions 302, 303 and 357 of the Administration of
Criminal Justice Aet (ACJA) 2015, whether the Prosccuiion has
discharged the evidential burden of proof to warrant the 4™ Defendant to
enter a defence in this case,

¢, Whether the Prosecution Witnesses {(PWI-P10) were able to link Malabu
Chiland Gag Lid (the 4" Defendant) with the commission ol any crime,

submissions were equally made on the above issues which similarly lormy part

ol the Recoed of Court to the effeet thal the prosccution has nol discharged or
. I F .

madc ool o cuse 88 required by law 10 warrant the 4" delendant 1o enter a

dedence i this case,

The address of 5™ defendant is dated o™ Movember, 2023 and liled same date
at the Regisiry of Court,  In the address, one issue was distilled as arising [or

determmation, 1o wil:

“Whether having vegard to the evidence adduecd by the proscecution in this
case, a prima fieie case has been made out 50 as to warrant the eourt to call
on e 5" defendant to enler its defenee.”

Bubmissions wore equally made on the above issue which lorms part of the

Record of Court and it was contended that on the evidence led by the

prosceulion. u poma lacic case has not been made gy required by law 1o warrant
=Lh . -k -

the couwnt e eall on the 3 defendant 1o enter its defence.
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Cin the purt of 67 and 7" defendants. the address is dated 9" November, 2023
andd liled same dute, Tn the address, o sole issue was framed as arising [or

determiat ey

“Whether having regard to the evidence adduced by the complainant in
a ; . } ; |
this case, a primn facic ease has been established against the 6" and 7"

dedenean{s.™

Here on, as in the addresses of all the other delendams, the submissions made
which also Toems part of the Record of Court are essentially 1o the efliet that
Riving regard 10 ihe evidence adduced by the complainant, a prima Tacie case
was nol made out againgt the 8™ and 7" defendants to warrant their having (o

ster 4 defence.

I response to the addresses of all the defendants, the complainant liled a joint
composite response dated 20" December, 2023 and liled same date. In the
adddress. one issue was distilled as arising for determination:

Cllaving regavd to the evidenee adduced and exhibits tendered at the trial
and all the Ficts and circomstances of this case, whether the prosecution
e made ont & prima lacie case against the defendants to warrant them
heing called upon to enter their respective defences.”

In the submiissions of the complainam on the ahove issuc, the compliingni
wonld ippear 1o have conceded the fact that it did not on the evidence praoffer
v make out 3 prima facie cose against the 19, 2", 4™, 5™ 6" apng 7"
Befendants requiring them to enter a defence.

his rather candid and rare concession particuls rly in our clime can be
sitiated in paragraph 2.4, page 5 of the address as [ollows:

“Having evaluated the evidenee addueced by the ten prosecution witnesses
including the exhibits tendered during the trial, the prosecution has ne
desire to srguing against the no ease submission made by the 172" 4 g1k
6" and 7" defendants with regard to counts 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5. The decision is
anchored on paucity ol evidence available to sustain any of the ingredients
eequired to establish each of the offences preferred against the six
defendants. In that wise, it is necdless (o analyze the evidence adduced vis-
t-vig the ingredients of the offences charged in counls 1-5 respectively.
Mevertheless, the prosecution shall contend agdingt the no case submission
wade by the 3" defendant in regard o counds 6-d0), as overwhelming
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evidenee abeunds to wareant this Honourable Court te call upon the 3
defendant to enter his defence on all the 35 counts.™

luwing from the above, the address of complainant accordingly projected the
Pt that they made oul a prima facie case against only the 3™ defendant
reguiring him o enter his defence. With respeet to the other defendants, the
implication of the clear position taken by the complainant is that (hey

shoukl be discharged,

The 2™ defendant and 3" defendant [iled Replics on points of law 1o the
wldress of the complainant dated 8" January, 2024 and 10" January, 2024,

At the hearing on 12" January, 2024, all Senior Counsel [or the partics relicd
amd adopted the submissions contained in their very well articulated written
acletresses and all mude further vral submissions in amplification of the s
mide or contained in the nddresses: While counsel on behall ol the defendants
urged upan court 1o uphold the no case submissions made as legally availing, on
the other side of theaisle, the prosceution as stated carlier conceded that the no
vase submissions made by 19, 2" 4™, 5™ 6" and 7" defendants has merit and
ought L be sustained: the courl was however urged to dismiss the submission of
¥ defendant and call upan him 1o enter his defence,

| have carclully considered the 40 counts charge. the evidence led by the
prosecution wimesses and the Fxhibits wendered along with the submissions
maele herein o which | omay refer woin the ourse ol this Ruling whene
I1L".."..‘.‘»::-‘.:||':.'_

It appears to me and as caplured by all Counsel that the issue o be resalved is
whether the prosceution has made out on the evidence led, a prima facie
case against the defendants requiring all or any one of them o enfer a

dlefence to the charpe,

I principles thal guides the eourt in either uphalding o dismissing u no casc
o angwer submission are now Gairly well settled and these have been properly
sebout in all the adidresses o the respective leamed Senior Counsel,

Hhe count in exereising its statutory powers within the ambit of Seetions 302,
ancl 303 (3) of the Administration of Criminal Justice Aet {ACIA) 2015 must
exereise ulmost cireumspeetion in this delicate judicial exercise,  The court
st necessaraly play its part in ridding the socicty of erimes and related viees,
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bul it must also ensure ol the same lime that 3 defiendant is not made to face the
rigens ol e eriminal tial without some justilfication or valid basis.

Now as rightly submitied by all counsel in this casc. a no case o answer
subimssion may properly be made and upheld when there has been no evidenee
W prove an cssential element of the alleged offence(s) ar when the evidence
adiluced by the proseeution has been so diseredited under the foree of cross-
examination or is manifestly that no reasenable tribumal could salely
convict on it. See Ibheziako V. C.O.P (1963) 1 SCNLR 99, Ekpo V. State
(2001) FWLR (pt.55) 454 and State V Emedo (2001} 12 NWLR (pt.726)
131.

ALl thal the Taw requires @ court W determine al this stage 18 whether the
prosecution had made out o prima-facic case; it is not 1o evalugte evidence or
consider the credibility of witnesses. Sce Daboh V State (19773 11 NSCC 309
al 35 and Seate V Emedo (supra). In Tongo ¥V C.O.P (2007) 12 NWLR
(pt.1049) 523, the Supreme Courl stated as (olows:

“lherefore, when a submission of no prima facie case is made on behalf of
an aecused person, the trial court is not thereby called wpon at that stage to
express any opinion on the evidence before it. The court s anly called upon
(o Lakie note and to rule accordingly that there is before the court no legally
dthmissible evidence linking the acensed person with the commission of the
odfence with which he is charged. I the submission is based on discredited
evidence, such discredit must be apparent on the Fee of the record. T such

iz nol the case, then the submission is bound to Gail™

For the suke of clarily, a prima Facie case is not the same as proof, which
comes bater when the eourt is to make a finding of guilt of the accused, I is

widence which i believed and un-contradicted. will be sulTicient Lo prove the
gl ol the gecused. See Ajidagha ¥V LGP (1958) SCNLR 60 and Emedo V

Siale (Supra) at 151-152,

My T also sav at this stege that in 5 no case to gnswer submission, a delence
counsel relving on the absence ol evidenee 1o prove an essential ingredient of
the alleped  oflence stands on a surer [ooting than one relying on the
urirchability or fack of credibility of the prosceution’s witnesses. This i mainky
beeause at the stage of no case to answer submission. onl ¥ one side of the casc
hus been heard and it would be premature and projudicial o commenl on the
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evidence or lacts of the case at that stage. See Criminal Procedure in Nigeria,
Law and Practice by Oluwatoyin Doherly (of blessed memory) at 272-273,

Indced on this point as alrcady alluded to. the court must not concern ilsell with
the eredibility of witnesses or the weight to attach 1o their evidence or 1o make
ubservations on facts. The wise counsel of the Apex Court in siluations Jike
this readily comes 1o mine, The court stated as Tollows;

“ALThe stage of no case submission, trial is not yet concluded and the court
should not concern itsell with the eredibility of witnesses or the weight 1o
be attached o their evidence even il they are accomplices. The courl
should also at this stage be brief in its ruling as too much might be said
which at the end of the case might fetter the conrt’s diseretion. The courl
shauld al this stage make no observation on the Faets.”

Per Kutigi JSC (a3 he then was and of blessed memory) in Ajiboye V State
(1995) 8 NWLR (pt.414) 408 at 413 rclying on Chief Odofin Bello V The
State (1967) NWLR 1 at 3 where Ademaola CIN (o blessed memory ) stated as

[l s

“Whilst il is oot the aim of this court to discourage 4 judge from discussing
matters of interest in his Judgment, we would like to warn against any
vuling of inerdinate length in a1 submission of no ease Lo answer, as lno
much might be said, as was done in this case, which at the end of the case
might letter the judge’s discretion... 1t is wiser to be brief and make no

observation on the Facts"

[Taving set out the above guiding principles, the hasic responsibility or focus of
Lo new is to examing the evidence led by the proscoution wilnesses in (e
light of the critical clements required 1o sustain the offences Tor which the
delendants e charged and in doing so determine whether the evidence has
1w delendants with the oflences they are charged with,

laled Lo link 1

I shall endeavor 1o treat cach counl as it alTecls each defendant scparately bul
where the counts cover different defendants and treats or deals with the same ar
relaied offences, those counts will be taken together and a clear position taken

with respeet to the defendant affected.

Belore proceeding with the excrcise, lel me quickly respond (o some peripheral
mallers arising lrom the addresses of partics. Firstly, the sugacstion canvassed

—
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by some of the delendants that the concession by com plainant carlicr relemred
fo that @ ease was not made oul against some of the delendants (ransiaie
automatically 1o the suceess of the no case submission made and 1hat those
defndants olTected be discharged and acquitied without much ade,

With respect, | don’t share the enthusiasm in such proposition and it has no
legal support within the purview of the relevant sections governing  the
application under the ACJA 2015, Seetion 302 of ACJA provides thus:

“3E The Court may, on its own motion or on application by the defendant
after hearing the evidence for the prosccution, where it considers that
the evidenee ugainst the defendant or any of several defendanis is not
sulficiont to justily the continwation of the trial, record a finding ol not
guilty in respect of the defendant without ealling on him or them to
enter his or their defence and the defendant shall accordingly be
discharged and the conrt shall then eall on the remaining defendant, if
Any, to enter his delenee,”

Ihe above provision is clear and unambiguous, The provision oflers clear.
plain and specific dircction.  On the basis of the positions laken by some
in this case. il appears thal we see the situation and lepal CONSCOUCTLCS
ol this provision dilTerently, The lulerum of the provision projects a decision to
Be mde by the eourt aller considering the evidence proffered by the
prosecution.  The court could seomof activate the exercise or aet an the hasis
ol an application by the defendant(s). A decision is then made one wity or the
athier. by the Court *afier hearing the evidence of the prosecution, {and)

Counse

where it considers that the evidence against the defendant or any of the
defendants is not sufficient to justify the continnation of trial, record a
linding of not guilty in respect of the defendant withoul calling on him or
them to enter his or their defence...™ Inherent in this provision is the cduty on
court to consider the evidence led, determine ity sullicicney belore making a
deciston on whether the thal will continue or nol

The provision of Section 357 of ACJA 2015 reinlorees thiy pasition wherein it
provided as follows:

“Where at the elose of the evidence in support of the charge, it appears to
the courl that o case is not made out against the defendant sufTicienily to
require hini to make a defence, the court shall, as to that particular charae,
discharge him being guided by the provisions of Scetion 302 of this Ael.™

.
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The above provision is cqually clear,

Therefore, notwithstanding the concession hy complainant, the cowt has o
duty to perform within the elear remit of the provisions of Section 302, 303 (3
and 357 oF ACTA. That duty or responsibility cannot therclore be legally
ahdicated on the basis ol the concession made.  With or without the concession,
the court must do its duty as statuorily preseribed. This position should not be
laken W mean that the concession in the address s completely ol no value, |
think we are all on the same pase that the principle now ol wide application is
settled that an address of counsel no matler how well articutated s noL a
substitule lor or cannot take the place of evidence. The eoncession on its own,
therefore does not aggregate to a ful(illment of the legal requircments of a no
case Lo answer submission. It is also now generally aceepted that there is
hothing thal precludes the court from relyving on admitted facts contained in an
wldress 1o the clear extent that it is bome out of the evidence on record and
supported by the applicable law. Consequently, concessions made by counsel
in an address which s supported by the evidence on record and the applicable
laws are as good as an admission and the courl is entitled 1o rely on such
conceded facts in reaching s decision, See Aliyu V Kano State {2021) LPELR
- 34797 (CA).

The bottam Tine is that the concession, while helplul where it is conslructive in

the sence that 1t has material support from the evidenice led on record and the
bearing with

upplicable Jaws, it however really has no signilicant materia
respeet o the duty that the courl s now about 10 undertake or commence.

Secondly, il is observed that in the very well written addresses and the claborate
and extensive submissions made therein, some nppear o have proceeded on the
rather Taully premise or basis that the courl is dealing with the guilt or
otherwise ol the defendants. That approach with respect appears 1o me Mawed,
Ihe peint 1o underscore is that at this stage, the issue is not whether the
evidence is sulficient to ground a conviction. This can only come about afler
hearing  lrom bath sides where the court will then have the invaluable
opportunity el lesting the versions of the incident presented from both sides of
the aisle,  Aceordingly o prima facie ease means that there is a ground for
proceeding with the trinl, but il is not the same as proof which comes later
when Lhe sl courl hag o find whether the aceused s auflly or not.  See
Ajidagha V LGP (1958) SCNLR 60,
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Because ol the nature of the 40 Counts charge and lor o [air and proper
tesalution of whethier the prosecution has made oul prina Facie case apaingl the
derendants. requiring them 1o enter their defenee, it would be apt and noeessary
l stlute and summarise the essence of the evidenee Jed by the prosccution
witnesses and then relate them to the counts and the applicable lezal

jrinciples,

This would then make for a faivly lengthy ruling, which on point of
principle. is nol particularly encoursged for 2 ruling on & no case submission as
ilready alluded . Indeed il is cven sugpested by Oputa JSC (ol hlessed
memiryd thal a ruling on a no case should be couched in a simple statenent
upholding or rejecting the submission, Sce Atano ¥V ALG. Bendel State {T08R)
2 NWLR (pu.73) 201,

Now 1o the substance. [ will start by summarizing the essence of the evidenee

presented by the prosecution.

Mahammed Sani Abacha nlso known as Mohammed Sani testilied as PWI
Phat he is a busimess man, | e knows the 1% defendant ag Company Scorcetary of
Kaho Airlines and former AG, ol the Federtion, ‘That he visited him on
asseming office and informed him of his problems with OPFI.245 swned by
Malabw Ol and Gas and that he told him o write 2 pelition stating  his

complaints which he did in 2010,

Ihul |'IL lenowws 2" defondan) I:-dwd on the irrcgularities perpetrated against him

i 3" defendant. TTe knows 3" defendant. wha was the foundation seerctary of
4" delendant, e knows 4™ defendan as he wig a [ounding member,
sharcholder and dircctor in the company.  ‘That he knows 5" 6" and

delendants based on irregularities commitied in 4% defindant,

PW T testified further that as o member and sharcholder of 4" defendant. it was
incomotited in 1998 o seek allocation far Ofl prospecting licence and 1hat
sulsequent o the registration of the company, they soughl for ofl prospecting
Heenee in the petrolcam ministry and they were granted OPL, 214 and 245,
It ot the time of the incorporation, the company had a total sharcholding of
20, 000 000 with himsell having 10, (00, 000 shares: Kweku Amalapn 6.
LR, D00 sharcs and | Fassan Hindu - 4, 000, 600 shares,
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e stated that KwelkuAmafaga was o pseudo name for Chief Dan Etete
while Hassan Hindo was @ pseudo name lor Alhaji Hassan Adamu, wakilin
TS

Cin the complaints of irregularitics, PW1 stated that afier the death of his [ather.
Lienerad Sant Abacha, he was harassed and imprisoned and that while in prison,

he heard that aherations were made in 4™ delendam and he gave d Power of

Alwmey e lale Adr Viee Marshall Muktar Mohammed 1o oversee and
perticipate in the affaies ol 4™ defendant on his hehalf,

Fhat despite all his efMorts, he could not get to or communicate with Chiel Dan
Itete wha had then Med the country, 1le then cavsed Abubakar Malami SAN
1o conduct a scarch on 4" Delendan) @t the Corporate Affairs Commission
(CAL) und when there was no response, he cansed another lawver, R.AL Atabo

Lo wereduet the search.

"W said it was then thal he diseovered that there were severnl alterations in 4%
Pelendamt, sometimes in June 1998, November 1998 and his names removed
lrom 4" defendant and thal by the year 2000 when the final alteration was
chccted. his shares were altered and converted and that his name no lengoer
ippears as o diveetor. [e stated thal it was al that point he noted that a COMPHTY
Pecos Encrgy [ad. was introduced into 4™ delendant,

W stated that he never authorized any altermtions and when he diseovered the
alterativns, he led a case at the Federal High Court secking the court (o asser
his wisceship al 10, OO0, H00 shares which is $0% ol 4" tlefendant,

"W said that he alse instructed his lwwyers in London to write both Shell and
ERTAGIP cautioning them inte going fir OPL. 245 Block and not Lo cnler into
diy agreemoent or joint venture with 4" defendant, That he informed them that

- . - h i
[ i dhirector and sharcholder in 4" defendant,

PW said that he also instructed his lawyer to write (o the Netherlands and
Halin Vmbassy which wre home countries for Shell and NI AGH? secking
them o pass the information o the companies not 10 parlicipale in any
agreement or juint venture with 4" defendam,

MW stated that he also causcd his fawyers 1o publish n twe (2) MNewspapers, a

general cavest warmning the public Fom entering o negalialing fny joint
- = 1] -— - - 1 -

partnersiap with 47 defendant, Fhat all his complamis [ell on deal curs,

—_— -
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L the alierations at CAC. he added that sometime in 2000 ar 2001, one
Ayodeji wenl 1o CAC 10 make changes in Fom €02 ol 4" delendant.  On
Ay thes, s lawyers wrole o petition again o CAC who responded saying
that they had Torwarded a lever w BEFCC w investigate the issues raised in his
petition. That while his case was pending at the Federal [ligh Court, Chiel Dan
Frete and his n:nhu-rH sl ci"' deleidant to Shell and NI AGIP and that all
“approval as a sharcholder and dircelor of

s
4™ delendan,

Ambassador Hassan Adamu testilicd as PW2. Lle is a retired diplomat and a
business man. e knows same of the defendants, 1e knows 17 defendant ay

Former AL ol the Federation,

W2 estilied that his invelvement with 4" defendant started in 1998, That Dan
e, th Jnnmr Minister of Petroleumn called him thal he was incorporating a
company, 4" delendant and wonts him 1o be g sharcholder and that he should
wve him a name. That he gave him a pseudo name. Hassan Hindu and that hie
will eall him back aller reflecting on the issue o confitm and aive him a rcal

A

W2 suid b later called him o say that it was not advisable for him 1o be g
shurcholder of o private company and that he should drop his name and find

another name;

W2 said that Dan Biele pleaded with him to pive him another name.
nurthemer who is in logistics and shipping in a private company se he gave him
Aliyn Mohammed Jabw and told him 1o contact him dircetly to confinm il he
wanls Ja he o direclor and sharcholder in the company.  That he now called
Alhaji Jabu and informed him of the developnients and told him Lo contact Dan

Lt homsel ]

W2 said that loter on. Mohammed Jabu called (o inform him that he has
aceepled 1o be a sharcholder and dircetor in 4™ defendant,  PW?2 said he told
Jan Ftete to replace the psendo name he gave wilh that ol Alhaji Jabu and tha
he was nol interested in the business.  Thal since then, Dan Liele never
comicted him again o cither sign or altend any mecting with respeet Lo 4"

e lendant,

W2 said that in his re-collections, Dan Liele told him that 5. Munaimuna,
Mohamimed Sani and Alive Jubu are the shareholders and direelars. o [ 4
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tefendant. That Alhaji Jabu told him that he sold his shares in 4" defendant 1o
Pecos lnergy.  That he did not authoriee anyone to sign any documenl on

Behall ol 1 Hindu,

Alhaji Alive Jabu Mobammed tleslilied as PW3  lle used to be in the
shipping business bul retired in 2006, He does not know 19, 2™, 4" R
and 7" defendants, 1le knows 3" defendant very well,

W3 stared that sometimes around 1998, Dr. Tassan Adamu (IPW2Y called him
and tald him o see Dan Fiew, the then Honourable Minisier of Petroleum and

he went and saw him,

W3 stated that Dan Fiete informed him that he formed 2 compuny, the 4
defendant und offered Dr. Adamu shares who rejected same bul told him that he
could send sumeone who may be interested and that the ministor gavi: him 20%
shares in 4™ defendant. ‘hal Dan Etete told him that the company is into oil
ind -'-’|'~‘. and 1old him 1o sce 3" defendant in 1 Agos. He then wenl o Fagos and
met 3" delendant who told him that the minister. Dan Fiete had informed him
that he will be a sharcholder with 209 shares in 4™ delendant,

W3 suid that in a subscquent meeting, 3™ delendant informed him that he is
the company sceretary/legal adviser of 4" defiendant and that he, PW3 has been
sppuinted us o non-executive chaimman of 4™ defendant and that his 20% sharc
i 4" delendam is cquivalent to 4, 000, O8O unit shares,

PW3 suid he was not given any appointment letter and that they never had any
board meetings, Further that i there was any company document to be signed,
the 3" defendant calls hiny as chairman tw come and sigr,

PW3 said 3" Delendant never Wold him who the other divcetors or shareholders
1 acied py non-

of the company were and he has never mel them,  That
exceutive chairman for 2 years when 3™ defendant told him e has Boen
remaoved and that he was now (o set as Managing Dircetor,  That here (oo, there

wits no appomiment letter, no ofTice or schedule.

I’W'{ ~;mlm] that he staved in Malabu 0§l [or 3 vears and he then sold ks 4. D00,
% ol' 4" delendant shares) 1o Peeos | nerey al -5, 000, 000 US

|Jn|l:|r5.
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| . . g .
hant le dises not know from where 3™ delendant was gellmg mstruclions o min
! . - = | : *
the compuny s no meetings were held. That since he leli 4™ defendant in
2008, he dues nol know anything about the company,

{}Junhu Oyewole Fasawe testificd as PW4. (e is a business man. e knows

I'.|1.|1.:'1'II! nt as former AG. of the Federation. e does not know the 2™ 3% 5
i 7" delendams. e knows 4" defendant through (ne late Barrister {.]11}41:
Chighue wha spoke 1o him abouwt OPL 245, ‘That the discussion was for them Lo
mvest in OPL 245, That he liked the idea and they examinced how 1o approach

the 185,

"W saiel that three (3) of them set up o company Pecos Energy Lid and alicr
hirving o meeting decided winvest in the project, He stated that Chict Chighue
2ave them an insight inte 4" defendant and informed them that one of the
sharcholders is sclling his sharcs and that 50% of the shares of 4 defendant was
heen given up,

PW4 said they were given 50% of shares which vanslated w10, Q00 G0
shures i (he sum of 3, 000, 000 dollars which they paid by dralt through heir
L yer o the Malaba group selling the shares.

Fwe testilied tha alter paving the 5. 000, 000 Dollars, they met and staried
discussing on the way Torward. That he expeeted there will be o suecessiul end

bl there was no such suceess [l end.

"W said they were not sure that the people thal gave them the 50% shares
really had the shaves but that in their anxicty to make money, they paid,  PW4
said he then called Mobhammed Sani and 1old him about the chullenges they
were facing who wld him on phone that those who sold the 50% shares of
Malabo 1o them do not own the shares,

W4 stated that when they paid the money for the shares, they were given
Corpordie Allairs Commssion (CACY (orms which they signed. That he was
naminated W serve on the bosrd of 4™ delendanl. That at the time e signed the
CAC Torms, there were only 2 dircelors of 4™ defendant: himscll” und one
Seidougha Munamuna. That the CAC fomms has 3™ delendant’s namce o il as

Company Seerclary,
WA said thal sinee he was nominated as = diveetor, no mectings hive held,
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W said that when Mohammed Sani told him that the peaple who sold 1o them
hiad only 20 of 4" delendant: he ealled their lawyer to tell him Lo inform those
whin sold o the that they were buving 20% and not 50% of the sharcholding

E. :I .
al 4+ defendunt.

W4 said they now discussed with his partners and decided that sinee they have
made payments Tor 50% shares but they don’t have the $0%, thal it is better
they iang on to the 20% sinee thoy eannol retrieve their money. PW4 slated

that that is how they beeame 20% sharcholders in 4™ delendant,

PWa slated that us Ume went on, they heard of the sale-of Malabo Qi Block and
he called Mohammed Sani who wld him (o write 1o those buying the block and

compluin,

"W said that they don't know what happencd o their 20% shares in 4"
detendant and cven the 5. 000, 000 dollars they paid for the shares. That even
alter Malabo was sold, they derived nothing.,

Peter Terkaa Akper Lestificd as PWS, 1le served as Special Assistanl (SA) o
the ALG. and Minister of justice between 2007-2015, serving three AGs.

[fe knows the delendants and that his schedule of duty to the ministers is to
assist the ALGHin e discharge ol his dutics mnd ke on any responsibility as
nuay be direeted by him. That some of the dutics include preparing of
memorindum for the AG, prolfering of legal opinion for his atiention,
attending meetings with him or without him as he so dirccis,

PW3S stated that his knowledge of the companics is as o result of their
myvalvement in QPL 245 vesoluiion agreement which was facilitated by the

I'ederal Ministry ol Justice.

PWS suid he Cirst got involved in the OPL. 245 transaction when the mnistry
was served with a notice ol arbitral procecdings commenced by Shell Ultra
Dyeep Ll against the Federal Government of Migeria where they were elaiming,
2 Billien damages Tor alleped expropriation of their investment in OPL. 245,
The then Minister appointed 17 defendant g5 an arbitrator but he could aot take
up the appointment because ol nationality issues.

W5 stated that his nest myvolvement with OPL 245 was when 4" defendan)
requested the Federal Government through the President that the setilement

reached between 4™ defendant and the Federal Government dated 30™
——
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neplember. 2006 be implemented and they drew attention ol the Government 1o
he subsisting consent judpment between the parties whicl was vet o be piven

elleet by the Federal Governmend.

I'he Honourable Minister then, 17 defendant, was dirceted by the president
advise on (he issue. PWS recalls that o memorandom was prepared by the
nilice of the AG intimating the president of these faets — the el that there was
ascitlementagreement, the [act that there was a subsisting judgment of the FHC
il lastly that efTeet has not been given Lo the agreement or judgment.

W3 recalled that the then President, Goodluek Jonathan dirceted hat the
A should explore ways ol resolving the lingering thspuic.

W3 sind that the Minister, 1™ detendant then invited 4™ delendant to cxplone

ways of implementing the sctlement agreement thal was brought 1o the
itlention ol the President and there was a resolution 1o implement the settlement
Agrecment of 2006 which restored the interest ol 4" delendant in 0P 245

L

PW3 stated further thar when 4™ delendants interest in OP1, 245 Wi restored
by the |Ll.h_‘r.IF Giovernment, in complignee with the seidement agrecmiont in
20, 4" delemdant sought (o dispese of their interest in OPL 245 amd that is

heow the other companices became invalved,

WS stated] thal negotistions then took place between the party thar 4"
delendunt was interested in selling 10, Shell Migeria Ultea Deep Lid but that
there were challenges that needed to be addressed.  'That there was distrust
between them because of their previous dealings, PWS3 stated that when 4™
delendant was issued with OPLL 245 licence between T998-1999, they wore
expeetid Lo develop the blogk with the assistance of their technicsl partners an
Py upgraached Shell That when the Federmil Government purporiedly
reviked 4% delendancs interest in 0P, 245 and awarded same 1o Shell Ul
Deep, 4" defendant contended that Shell Ul Leep was their lechnical pariners
so il was unlbir for the Federal Government w take their interest in OPL. 245
amd give W another party who happencd o be their technicul partners ancd

supipesced 1o Be on their side,

PW3 stuled that the Federal Government weas interesiod in this scitlement
because Shell Ulien Deeps arbilcation was stil) subsisting, and the Federal
Liovernment was anxious 10 be relicved of tha eontingent lahility avising [rom

—
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the arbitration,  That wt the end of the day. it was ncecssary to get-all the partics
Ly the table sothat the Federal Government will ke advantage of the desire ol
™ defendant 1 sell their interest in OPL 245 and resolve 3 main issues:

- The arhitcation dispute between Feder) Government and Shell:

The claim between Malabo and the Federal Government:
Fnsure that Block OPL. 243 became operational to enable the Government

et | —

derive tux revenues and rovalties from the aperation.

PW3 stated that the partics accordingly entered into negotistions Tacilitated by
the office ol the A.G. and they reached o resolution vide OPL 245 Resolution
Agreement which was then lorwarded 1o the President lor him (o append his
stgnature for exceution by parties.  That Chicl Dan Jitete and 3™ defendant
represented the interest of 4™ defendant while Shell Ulira Deep and other

companies had their representatives,

PWS stated that the AG™8 ollice got the presidential approval for the
exceution and dmplementation of  the  resolution OPL 245Agreement,

Foxhihid '3,

Femi Ogunleye, u stall with Corporate Affairs Commission testiliod as PW6.
He docs pol know any ol the delendants but hie has heard of 1™ and 4™

detendints

Between 20000 2012, he was in the records department of CAC preciscly
verification and agsessment unit,  Tle was then principal manager handling
gl verification of post incorporation documents and alse superviscd stall
wider him. That sometime in 2010, it was broughi 1o his knowledge that twa (2)
applicalions 1o wit: Forms CAC2 containing partieulars of sharcholders and
CACT containing particulars of existing Directors were approved by the CAC
for 4™ defendant an 10™ June, 2000 without [ollowing due procedure,

Lle stated that the practice a1 the Ume was that belore the veriliealion of the
application, the physical lile containing registration documents and previously
lled applications of the company must be seen before the verifieation or
ipproving afficer to enable him conlirm the signatures of those who signed the

application bronghi hefore him,

PWo stated further that the process is thal the customers will present their
application in the customer serviee department where the applications will be

14
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recorded in the list ol upplications Jor the doy, That & staf? from his unil, the
verticition aned ossessment umit will later oo and eollect the list contain ing e
applications and make photocopies. That the original copy will be lefl in the
epartment while the photocopy and the application submitted will be taken by
the stall ol CAL |o the file room where all physical files in the commission are

hupl.

e stted Junther that the phatocopy and the application token from the
customer service department will be given 1o the various teams according to
their geries, That the teams will 2o 10 the shell and bring oul the liles, the
documents will then be inserled into the file, recorded and taken o the

approving ollicer,

PWhA stated that the Forms CAC2 and CACT for the 4™ defendant were nol
lled following due process becavse at the Lime they were approved, the files
were in the oflice of the Registrar General (R.G) of CAC on caveat and tiere
wits ne record of application o the R.G. for the file of 4% defendant 1o be

retrieved [ use.

PO saed he did not know what (he commission did when they found out that
he Torms CACT and CACT of 4™ defendant was not properly liled as he was

nel part o the management,

I‘Wl.': lerther testilied that in addition 10 the fact that the forms CAC2 and CALCT
al 4™ detendant were nol propery liled, they also Tound oul that a corper, one
"mnlh Ulepang scerving in his unit approved the two (2) documents because his
signature was on the two applications ol 4" defendant and that he con fiomed

that 1he signature was his.

P stated that the reeords woere checked and 1 was confirmed that he
application was et submitted in CAC in the costomer service departmoent and
there was ne record of request for the Gle from the B.Gs office. That the beliel
ol the commission was that the corper was directly approached. That they were
ivited o the EFCC and the corper was detained.  That the presenter ol the
application is one Mr, Ayo who said he submitted the application at Lhe
ns shown that there was no evidence

cuslomer serviee departme
ol submission ol the application. e was invited w0 the BFCC.PWS says he

duoes not know where the said Ayve works,
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dibrin Mohammed Lawal a stofl and compliance olficer with Kevstane Bank
teslified as PWT, Tle does not know 1%, 3™ 5% _ 7% dofendants. That he is
lamiliar with 4" defendant and that 3™ defendant is o customer of Keystone
Bunk. Mintamu branch, TR Way,

e staed that they were in reeeipt of o leter Trom LFCC asking for stalements
ol aceount of 4" defendant and Rocky Tep Resources. e then produced 1he
tecount apening packape and statement of accounts of the two companics in
evidence and explained the modalitics for opening the accounts,

Fhat al the time ol the opening of account of 4™ defendant, there were thice

dircetors:

Lo Munamuna Seidougha
2 Amaran leseph and
3. Fasawe Joscph

W7 then relorred 1o the staements of account of 4" Jelindant vide xhibit P7
(1=3) and referred 1o some inllows and putflows on the aceount including the
paymentsirunsier made 1o Rocky "I'op Resources Lid,

e cqually referred to the statement of account of Rocky Top Resources Lid
Exhibit P9 (1-49) showing the payment from 4" delendant 1o its account.

Degwe Elizabeth Ihywman. o relationship manager with First Bank wstificd
(18 PWR. She does not know 1" = 3™ and 5™ — 7" defendants. She only became
familiar with 4" delendant when she was asked to acl the account opening
tocument sl stalement of account of the company domiciled in their branch

which she did.

She stited the modalities Tor opening of the account and then identilied the
inllows and outllows on the aceount particularly the transfor to three (3)
comipanics i dolbaes,  She stated that the signatory Lo the aceount is one Dogzic
Elete, That a resolution signed by the chairman, Seidougha Monamuna and the
company scerclary, the 3" defendant dated 12™ Auvgust, 20011 showed 1thol Lthe
sipnatory to the account is one person,

Mr. Bohi Gideon Dashong, v forensic docoment examiner or analyst with
EECC Forensic and Crime Laboratory testilicd as PW9. [le siated his
quithiications, schedule of duty and job description.  [e only knows the 1"
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detendant as a public officer but has never met him. e has also never meet 2
] ¥ 5 ! g =, ~ik - .
pd 3% detendums and i€ not Gamiliae with 5 — 7 defimdunts.,

He stated that on 24™ September, 2012, a letter of request was forwarded 1o the
lerensie anit with two sets of documents. The lirst set of docurments containg
=ample signatures in the orighngl marked as A-A4 while the sccond set contains
doctiments marked X-X9 which were photecopies of CAC documents in the
mame ol 4" defendant containing authorized signatures i.c, signatures thal were

dhisputed.

That the request was [or the examination. comparison ol the signatures and a
repart with the aim o determine whether ar not the author of the known reguest
speeimuen signatures marked A-Ad wrole any of the disputed signatures on
documents X-X4,

He stated that on reeeipt of the request and the documents, they noted thal not
all the ducuments in X-X9 are from CAC: some were on personal letler leads of

individual persons.

O reecipt ol these documents, he carried oul the cxaminations/investipations as
eeguested and carried out the request based on three (3) methodologics:

Lo Visunl analvsis and reconstruction ol the disputed sisnatres on documents
marked X-X9 and the sample signatures marked A-Ad.

That the essence of the reconstruction is 1o determine the struetural [Balures af
bl disputed signatures and the known specimen signalres,

2. Use ol slerco microseope Lo cxamine the disputed signatures and the known
specimen signatures at higher magmilication in other to determine subtle
features thot exist within the disputed signaturcs and the known sample

sipnalures.
The use of VSC (Video Speetral Comparator) 3000 series.

He stited that this device hos video cameras and dilTerent lisht sources which
o e by side examination of documents, That il has cameras and lenses
which aid in magnilying documents and has the capability of capluring Lhe
images of documents laid side by side. That the camera of the ¥SC iy cligitally
controlled by software which caplures still images. That the system allow for
the capture of images in form of charts and that they can also be printed,
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WY staeed that he applicd all these three (3) methodologies in this case and
relicd on 3 hasic principles in the course of the analysis:

Lo Himdwriting sdentification, That this principle states that no (wa {2) persons
sliire the sume combinulion of handwriling identification characieristios g
heainning and ending strokes, start of wriling. slope of wriling, spacing
between letter/characters in word, spacing between words in @ sentence,
comneclion hotween Ietlers in o word, and how one letter conneets with the
viher amd finally alignment in wélation o hase line,

Matural variations exist in cach writers hand: and

it

i

Mo writer can exceed their skill level,

W testilicd Tunher that he applicd all these principles and methodologies and
arrved at the conclusion based on the findings of the features identified in the

course of the examination.
The eonelusions he areived ol are:

| There is a no-conelusion” whether the author of known request Spocimen
sighdture. A-A4 wrole the disputed signatures marked X2-X9.  ‘That the
documents X, X1 and X7 gave rise (o the secand OpIniaI.

= The seeond opinion ds that there is o strong probability thal the suthors of
ki request specimen sionoture A-A4 did net write Lhe disputgd
signatures X, X1 and X7,

Hle stated that the reason Tor “no eonclusion” is booause the two scle of
documents do ot bear any pictorial resemblance So there was no basis for the

comparison. henee no conclusion,

On the “strong probability,” he stated that il is because of the nature of the
dispited docament and the knmin sipned documents (X, X1 and A7) bear
ecdvrid resemblinee with the known request specimen niacked A-Ad4,

He stated thal the reason he arrived at the *qualified opinion” is beeatse e
uments are pholocopies,  That at the end af their analysiz, they
prepared and submitied o report along with attachments meluding the kpown
specimen signalures (A-Ad) and the dispuled specimen signalures {X-X9). [le
also stuted that the known specimen sisnoture A-Ad is lrom one mdividual,
vd@ral Raputle of Sl
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trrahim  Abmed. who works with the counter-terrorism  and general
imyestigation/pension section ol EFCC wstilicd as PWI0,  Jle knows the
detendants, That his unil and team was forwarded o petition written by the law
frm ol ALA, Umar & Co, on behall of Mubammed Sani and Pecos neray

Ly investigale,

Phat the petition alleged that Mubanuimed Sani and P'eeos Encray were direclors
ol 4 defondant and gwned 50% and 20% shares in 4" delendant. Further that
they alleged that Chicl Dozie Loya Flete Ak.a Chiel Dan Hicle, Shell Niperia
Ulera Deep Lid (SNUDY, Shell Migeria Exploration and Production Company
Lid Burrisier Rasky Ghinighic and others forged documents and removed them
s Dircetors and shurcholders in the eompany. ' hil they also further alleped
that the only asset the company had is “OPL. 2437 which was sold al the rate of
|3 Billion Dullars and the money misappropriated.

Ve further testilied that when they received the petition, they drew o plan of
actton amd fnvited the petitioness who came and adopled their petition and shed

mre light on the petition

Phey then extended thetr iwvestigation to different povernment institutions like
the CAL Vedera]l Ministey ol Justice,  Pedernl Ministry ol Petroleum,
Acciuntant General™s OFfice and they were svailed documents relevant o the
M detendan and the allocation of OPL 245,

With these documents, that they conducted interviews involving over 80
persans including the defendants whi were also inlerviewed and documents

PRI Peeove el

W I stated that all geeounts linked to 4" defendant were identiled and letlers
anks whe availed them with relevant documents and from their

wrille
iy estigations, they found oul g5 lollows:

I detendant was registered os a company i 1998 and thal al neeption. i
haws 200, (00 ordinary shares with three directors:
o Molimmed Sani holding 50% ol the shares translating 1o 10, 000
shares.

i Kwekwu Amalaghs whe owns 30% ol the shares translating w &, 000,
D) shares.
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1t Hassan Hindu who holds 20% shares which translates to 4, D00, (00
shares.
Pl i the course ol investipation, they identified Muhammed Suani as

Mubmmed Sani Abacha, Hassan Hindu was fdentified @8 Ambassador
Hassan Adwmu. That they could not identify who was Kwekwn Amitlaghy,

2 That follewing the purported resignation letters of Muhammed Sani and

Hassan Hindu, form 2.3, particulars of Dircctors ol 4% defendant dated 2™
lunes 1998 was Tled a1 CAC by Resky Ghinigic wherein changes were
effected o the Dircctors and sharchelding structures of 4™ defendant as

leal vy

i Muhmmed Sani was replaced by Muhammed 8. Ahmed wha now owns 4.

DU, 000 shares
b. Kwikwu Amalagha was retained with 6, 000, 000 shares,

v Hassen Hindu way replaced by Tassan indy Wabi with 10, 000, Hoo

slines

3. Hhavalier the registration of 4" defendant, OPL 243 was allocated 10 it That
il the time, the llead of State was the late General Sani Abacha and the then
Vinister ol Petroleum was Dodie Lava Biete (AKA Dan Llete).

PO staned Turther that fullowing the resignation letters of Mohammed Sani,
kwekwu Amalagha and | lassan 1Tindu Wabi, » purporled Form CAC 2,3,
particulars of new Directors was filed gt CAC by Rasky Gbinigic and changes
vt ehleeted i the Board ol Dircelors and share structures o 4™ defendant g

FoHlas:

. Mubammed Aliyve Jubu was introduced as a new Dircctor with 70%, shures
which translates 1w 14, DOO, 000 shares.

B Beidoaghy Munamuna was appainted ss 8 Dircelor with 30% share holding
which translates to 6, 000, 000 sharcs,

Phat Mubammed Aliya Jabu was then appointed as MDY, al 4" Defendant
follewing & Board resolution of the company dated 7 Jarmary, 2000, Also that
Rusky Ghinigie (3" Delendam) was appointed company seerctary amd 1egal

Addviser
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W also seved that their mvestigation revealed that 4™ defendant entered into
ai gpreement with Shell Ulra Deep 1ad as their 1¢chnical pariner in the

aperatian of (1P 245

That they ulso Tound that Pecos linergy 1id paid 4" defendant 5, 000, 000
destlars anel they were given 10, 000, 000 shares in 4™ delendant,

That hased on this, another purported board resolution of 4™ delendant. Form
CALT 23 particulars of 1dreclors dated 6™ March, 2000 was [iled hy 3™
delendant with CAC and changes were again eiTected 10 the siructures of 4"
sarcholder in 4™ delendant and

defendant with Peeus Energy 11 becomme o s
Otunba Pasawe was appointed o direelor representing Pecos linergy.

Phat in the course of investipation, Alivu Muhammed Tabu whe was dropped as
i Direetor informed the team that he only sold the shares hield by Tlassan |lindu
Wbt to Peces Prergy which was only 4, 000, 000 shares translating to 20%

shures in 4™ delendant,

Fhat they alse diseovered that on 2™ July, 2001, the rights of 4" delendant on
CIPL 245 was withdrawn by the Federal Gavernment which then called for hids

Iupe €3, 2405

FW LG further testified that on 23" May, 2002, OPL 2435 was allocaed 1o the
lechnical pariner of 4% defendant, Shell Nigeria Ulirn Deep Lid (SNUTY and
lellonwing this allocation, 4™ defendant went 10 courl 1o challenge the allocation
o their lechnical partners. That the case was on witil 2™ Deeember, 2006 when
the Federal Government decided o settle out of court with 4 defendant o
the dssue ol QP 2435 and restored (he right of 4™ defendant (o ORI, 245,

it when the righis of 4% delfendant aver OPL 245 was restored, i1 was not
3 5 x P E

tinpdemented mmediately and that in 2000, 4" defendam upproached  the
Federal Government 1o implement the aut of court scilement entereed in 2006,

"W 10 stited that when 4™ defendant seneed that the licence will be restored o
them, they discovered another resolution letters of Muhammed Sant, Kowckw
Amalagha and [lassan Tindu alonpside a purporied resolution, Form CAC 2.3
particulars ol new Directors were liled al the CAC clloeting changes 1o 4™
Dretendant’s share struetures and dircctors a8 i1t has not been done before,

Hhe ehumnees done were;
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| Suendougha Munsmuna became o Director with 50% shies irinslating 1o [{),
(R0, DU shares.
Amaran Joseph was appointed a Director with 30% shares transtating 1o |1,

EEL, 00 shares,
Iiat these documents were filed st the CAC by one Barrister Ademola.

That the CAL laler complained to EFCC that these documents did not
Tollow due process as such they were expunged and the matter reporied 1o
Corperate Allairs Commniission (CAC) [or invest igalion.

W H) 11,~.urmr that the rights ol 4" defendant with respect o OPL 245 was
restured on 2™ July, 2010 and that when it was restored, il was put up lor sale in
the marker, e stated further thal in the process, there wis g negotiativn thal
took place betwveen Nigerin Agip Explomition 1id (NALP) and 4™ delendant,
Phit they oflered 4" defendant 1.3 Billion for the Ol Well, That when they
comdueted due diligencee, along with ENI Spa ltaly, owners of NAJP in MNigeria,
ey discovered that Muhammed Sani informed them that he owns 50% of (he
shurcs in 4" delendant and lurther that Shell Wigeria Lbra Decp was interested
m (hE Bloek OPE 245 and that the main person behind it is ALKA Dan lete
wha they did not wanl Lo have any relationship with and because of that, the
trinsactivn between them and 4™ defendant was then suspencded.

i o this stage, the Federsl Govemmenl intervencd thraugh the olTice
Attermey Gieneral of the Federtion and when they inguired as to how the
lerventivn was carried out, they did nol receive any leedback from the
Federal Government or the parties involved,

PWIT hoseever stited that al the end, three (3) apreements were reached to wit:
Lo Between 47 defendant and the Federal Government,

- Pederal Government of Nigevia and Shell Nigeria Ulira Deep, Shell Nigeria
Paplosation Lid, Miseria Agip Beploration | and MNP,

3. Lxero Apreement No 2,

Phat based on these agreoments. Niperia Agip Pxploration and  Shell
Preploration Company Lid dgreed 1o pay 10292 Billion Dellars and same
Fraction o settle all interest of 4" defendant in the Block 10 the Federal

26 scd@r &l eyt ff Bl e -
FOT Jucdicaary
Certified True I:ﬂp:-
i | -J 53"-1

. .-.u--

chr'roﬂ'J




Crovermment and also pay signature bonws, 1o the Federal Government Account

domueiled with 110 Morgan London.

W0 stated thit the mterest of 4™ defendanl was given o these twa {2)
companios an 30% equal basis.  Furthermore that when 4" defendant seneed
that maney will be given to them. another purporied Board resolution dated 11"
and 12 August 2001 was used in which 3" defendamt, Amaran Joseph.
Stidvugha Munamuna opened an aceount in Keystone Bank and First 3ank in
the mame ol 4" defendant. ‘That the documents uscd 1o apen the account were
cxpunged by CAC and when the accounts were opened, another Board
reselulion was used making Chicl Dosie Lova Ftete as the sole signatory of 4™

detendamt inthe twe Banks,

I'hat on 29" August, 2011, the Federal Government teleased 401, 540, 000
dollurs 1o the 4" defendants account domiciled with First Bank. 'Thut another
Atk gon, o0 Dollars was released 1o the account of 4™ delendant with
Kevstone Bk, formally Bank PHB.

e then stined that the money in First Bank was transTerred 1o 4 companics:

Lo Nlega Tech Lad got 180, 000, 000 Dollars:

I

A-biroup Construction got 137, 000, 000 Dollars;

s

lmperial Hinon got 34540, 000 Dollars: and
4. Newvel Propertics got 30, 000, (00 Dollars,

BWIHD sakl that all these 4 companics belong 10 2™ defendant, Alhagi Aliva
Abubaloar. That the sums of 400, 000, 00D of 4 defendant in Keysione: 336,
Qe 000 Dullars and some fraclion were transferred 1o Rocky Top Resources

[t i the same Bk,

P stated that the company Rocky Top Resources was inftially owned by
Alhagi Aliva Abubakar,  That there was o bourd resolution removing i
detendimt and appainting Chiel” Davic Lova Ftele AK A Dan ete who
became the sule signatory 1o Rocky Top Resourees aceount.

W0 siated that the meneys in these five accounts were misappropriated, Tlo
statee] that Based on the interaction he had with Mohammed Sani with respoect i
the purparted fetters ol resignation and bourd resolutions. they picked samples

e Comart of
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ol Bourd Resolotions, the one done in 1998 and 2010, a specimen sipnature of
Mohammed Sani and sent it 1w forensics o determine whether he signed the
documents and that they prepared a report in that regard, Tle stated that in the
course ol investigations. the delfendants volunicered statements,

Ihat they alse tried 1o search Niperia Agip Lxploration Lid, ENI? w hear [rom
thise who signed the agreements but the companies did not cooperate and so
they eould not get those who signed the agreements with the Federal Minisiry of
Justive as they had left the company. e stated that all ¢lTorls (o trace Amaran

loseph was not success(ul,

MWL stated (han in the course of investigations, they needed or required abeut
37 documents Irom CAC but they were given anly 17 documents as they were
mformed that the file of 4 defendant with CAC conlaining the other documents

WHS MISSINE,

"W stated further that they discovered that in the agreement between the
Federal Government and the oil companics lendered as Exhibit '3, they saw in
il pavagraph 10 which has 1o do with “forgivencss of taxes.”

Lhe stated that when they saw this paragraph, they wrote o the Federal Inland
Revenae Services, the Federal Ministry of Finance and Federal Ministry of
dustice to hind out i & waiver has been given on Taxes for the transaction,
That il wday, they have not received any response/reply as to whether a

WiVEr was given,

As stated earlier on, T have deliberately and fn extenss produced the
evidence of all the prosecution witness al il provides elear lactual and even legal
bassis to determine the key question of whether they mel the required threshold
ol a primya Fieie case that would necessitate a call w0 the defendants 1o enter
their delence.

On Count 1, the 1% defendanl is chareed along with 4" 5% &% and 7"
Petendants that sbout April, 2001 al Abuja. they conspired ameang themsclves
Lo commit an olfenee o wits public servant disoheying divection of law with
mtent 10 cause injury contrary to Section 97 (1) of the Penal Code and
punishable under Scetion 123 of the Penal Code,

Let me guickly point out that Section 97 (1) of the Penal Code is (he

pumshment section for Criminal Conspivacy, In the clear context of the Penal
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cude, Section 96 (1) and (2) delineates whal criminal conspiracy is all aboul.
e provision of Scetion 123 of the Penal Code delines or situales the
substantial alloncee of Public servanl disobeying dircetion of the law meluding
dcdmittediy the punishment Tor the offenee but the principle is seitled that
conspiracy to commit an offence is a separvate and distinet offence from the
elfeace of the aetual commission of the offence to which the conspiracy
relates. Each is independent and must therefore be established, In Atano
Vo AG Bendel State (sapra), the Supremie Court stated instructively as

fullws:

“Conspiracy snd the offence committed in pursnance thereol are two
separate and distinet offences. An aceused can be found suilty of the one
amd not guilty of the other or vice versa depending on the evidenee,
simitarly a discharge on the count of conspiracy must not invelve a
discharge on the substantive offence or vice versa. Much will depend on
the evidenee available and  the suerounding  circumsiances of cach

particulyr ease,
Mow back 1o what Conspiracy means within the purview of the provisions of
the Penal Code, particularly Seetion 96 (1) and (2) which provides us lollows;
SLWReR two or more persons agree to do or eause to be done:

a. Anitlegal act; or

b An ael which is not illegal by illegal means, such an agreement is

alied a criminal cr:ﬂ'_-;pir:m_'n.-'.

L. Neiwithstanding the provisions of subscetion (1), no agreement except
ap agreement (o commit an offenee shall amoont (o a criminal
conspiracy unless some act besides the agreement 35 done by one or
more parties to such agreement in pursuance thereof”

In the address of partics on both sides, learned Senior Counsel have in an
acdmirable manner suceinetly set out the saliemt ingredients thal constitoles the
oflence el crimingl conspiracy under Seetion 96(1) ol the Penal Code namely:

. That there must be an agreement of two or more persons to do an

unlawiul or a lawlul act by unlawlul means;

.
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» That the actual agreement alone constitutes the offence and it is not
neecssary o prove that the ael has in fact been commitied;

3. Thal the external or avert act of the erime of conspiraey is the coneert
by which mariual consent to a common pu rpose is exchanged; and

4. That the agreement is an advancement of an intention conceived
sccrelly in the mind of each person. The overt act is the prool of the
mteution, mutoal consultation and agrecment.

see Obiakor V., State (2002)1 NWLR (pt.776)612; Gbadamesi V. Staic
(19916 NW.LLR (pt.i96)182; Kaza V. The State (2008)7 NWLR
(3t TR85)125; Njovens V. The State {[973)NSCC 257.

oty

Buelore situating whethor conspiracy was prima facie made oul here, it may be
relevant, precisely beeause of the context ol the offence charged under Coum
Lhat 1" Defendant along with 4”', s 6" amd T Defendants conspired
among themselves to commit an olfence to wit: public servant disobeying
direction of the law with intent to cause injury,” (o deline who a public
servint is, Seetion 10 (a) — (g) of the Penal Code delines/denotes who a Public
'*.er' it is anel there cannol be any argoment that it is enly the 17 defendant thi
< it puhlic servant within the ambit of this provision and the 4", 8", 6" and 7"

Letendants e not public servants.

Mow | have corclully related the eonstituent clements of the oflence ol
conspiracy slatcd ahove vis-d-vis the evidence ol the prosceution wiltnesses. [t
s 1o b observed thal the direction of the law subject ol the disobedicnce and
the injury which parties subjeet of this charae were said o intend 1o cause was
not delined o disclosed in the Count. Furthermore and most importantly,
durig the trial, none ol the wimesses Tor the prosecution gave evidenee or
alluded 1o the nature of the dircetion of the law that was disobeyed, the Tacts and
cireumstances [hat constiluled the disobedience and the nature of the injury (hat
was intended, The narrtive of the proseeation really should be one prima lacic
situalmg the agreement o do an illegal set by the accused persons and in the
cantext of the extant count the evidence of the ngreement situating disobedience
ol dircetion of the Taw and the injury caused. Where nothing is presented 1o
ciluate clements of the conspiracy, the call o pot in a delence will be
Conpromised.
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et me point oot at this carly stage, even if briefly, but because 1 will be dealing
subscquently witl other counts of conspiracy, that the offence of conspiracy is
rarely or seldom proved by dircet evidence but by circumstantial evidenee and
inferences drawn Itom eertiin proved scts or through inferences drawn from
surraunding circumstances, Sce Obiakar V. State (2002)36 WRNI; State V.
Osoba (2004)21 WRN 1313 Erim V. State (1994)5 NWLR {pl-340)522 al
534,

There thus must be evidence even. il minimal, but with the reguired sulliciency
situating clements of the offence requiring a response from delendants, “There is
nothing from the evidence that suggest how, in whal manner, by what means,
where and under what cireumstanees whatsoever that the alleged conspitacy or
agreement to commit the effenee subjeet of Comnt 1 took place. It is equally 1o
be noted that the alleged conspiracy invelves even corporate bodies {—l'l'? CL
and 7" Defendants) and not one person or officer of these companics was
mentioned ss having conspired with anybody on behall of these companics in
relation 1o this Counl. Sce FRN V Emirates Airlines & ors {2021) LPELR —
54658 (CA)  Indecd nonc ol the wilnesses of the proscewtion said anyihing
implicating the defendants subject of this eount in relation 10 the olfence
charged,

Here | have carefully booked at the evidenee on record and it is apparent that the
narrative or evidence ol the prosecution does not prima [acic point W any shred
ol cvidence that establishes the ingredients of eriminal conspiracy in relation (o
the Count,

Phe buttom line is that | have not been directed 10 any premise from where the
¢einlerence as o any design, scheme or

court ¢an. prima facie, siluate or ma
strategy between the defendants 1o commit the alleged offence in Count 1.

My conclusion or finding is thal the prosceution has Failed o cstablish a prims
fcic case apainst the 1%, 4", 5%, 6™ and 7" defendants with respect 1o Cound 1,
They have no case (o answer and they are accordingly hereby discharged.

Counl 2 charpes 1" defendant that whilst heing the Atlomey General of the
Federation, he knowingly in Apeil 2011 disobeyed the direction of law 1o wit:
Companies Income tax, Cap. C21 intending thereby o save 5", 6" and 7%
delendams rom charges ol laxes Lo which they are lable pay Lo the Federal
Gaovernment theeugh OPLL 245 Resolulion Agreement contrary 1o Section 123

(e) of the Penal Code,
N e S S
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[L 15 Importlant to take our bearing from the provision of Seetion 123 of the
Penal Code which provides as follows:

“Whoever being a public servant knowingly disobeys any direction of the
ltw as to the way in which he is to conduct himsell as such publie servant
miending thereby or knowing himself to be likely therehy —

() ta enuse injury to any person or to the public; or

(bito save any person from legal punishmen! or 1o sulbject him to a less
punishment than that to which he is Hable or to delay the Bmposition
on any person of any legal punishment; or

(el to save any propecty from forfeiture or from any seizare or change to
which it is linble by law or to delay the forfeiture or scizore of any
property or the impositien o enforcement of any charge upon any

[roperty,

shall be punished with imprisenment for o term which may extend Lo two

years or with line or with boih”

I'he above provision is clear and situates the ingredients of the effence, My
duty here 15 1o examine the evidence lod vissd-vis the ingredicnts and then
situate whether o prima facie case requiring a response, rom 1% defendant was

made nul.

The sting of 1this counl projects that the 1 defendant knowingly disobeyed the
:Euulmn ol 1I~.L lawe, to wit: the Companies Income Tax by intending to save
", 6" snd 7* defendants from charges of tax which they are liable to pay to the
! cderal Government through the OPL 245 Resolution Aprecment but none of
the witnesses for the prosceution led evidence as to the Tax which the 5" @ 77
delendants were due 1o pay under the OP1. 243 Resolution Apreement and
which the 1" defendant “saved” them [rom paying to the Federal Government,

Again, an the evidence proflered by the prosceution witnesses, absolutcly no
evidence was led as w the nature and quantum of the tax which 5% 6® and 7
DPetendants were due (o pay under the OPIL 245 ggreement or indecd any other
lix, ||'|li.E'lL was cgually abselulely no evidence sitwating the et that taxes duc
Irom 5™ — 7" Defendants 1o the Federal Government on QP 2435 were waived

at the direetion or instructions of 1" Delendant.
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lnddeed not a single witness referred o the 17 delendant or made mention of his
nume i refation w this count. All projected no knowledge of what this count
entails. Relevant here is the evidence of the lead investigator PW 10 who siated
that i the course of their investigations, they lound a clause in the OPL 245
Resolulion Agreement Exhibit P3 o paragraph 10 which has w0 do with
“lovgiveness of taxes”. e stated that when they saw this paragraph. thoy

wrole o

1. Federal Inland Revenue Services.
2, Federal Ministry of Finance and
3. Federal Ministry of Justice

to find out il'a waiver has been given on taxes for the ransaction. That till
teday. they have not received any regponse or reply as 1o whether a waiver
was given,  In cvidence, this withess also stated that they could not reach all
those that signed the agreement to hear from them.

The evidence of PWID here is sell inculpatory with respect o this Count.
WD clearly is completely in the dark as 1o what this “forgivencss of taxes™
was ull aboul. The prosceution really had nothing to go on or to provide factual
and legal basis to really proceed with this Count. If the parties to the agreement
andd the eritical instiutions that weuld have given the information with respeet
to whether any waiver on laxes was given were nel fortheoming, how then was
thig count [ramed and made subjeet of this charge? T just wonder,

My finding with respect o Count 2 is that the prosceution has failed to
celablish o prima facie case against 1" delendamt requiving him to enter a

delenee and he is accordinply discharged,

Ilovwing from Count 2, which has Tailed, it is clear that Count 3 related 1o il
stinds Tundamentally compromised eb fniffo. For purposes of elarity, Count 3
charges 4", 5% 6™ and 7" Defendants of abetting 1 delendant to disobey the
dircetion of kw thereby intending to save them from charges of taxes to which
they are lable by law to the Federal Government contrary o Section 85 of the

Penal Code,
atchion a3 of the Penal Code provides thus:

ey = 1
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“E5. Whoever abets any olfence shall, if the act abetted is eommitted in
consequence of the abetment and no express provision is made by the penal
code or by any other law for the time being in force for the punishment of
sieh abetment, be punished with the punishment provided for the offence.

Section 83 ol the Penal Code delines what abetment means:
A person abets the doing of a thing, who —
“i. Instigates any person to do that thing: or

i Engages with one or more other Person or persons in any conspiracy
for the doing of that things; or

c. Intentionally aids or facilitates by any ael or illegal omission the doing

of that thing.”
Sec Suleiman ¥ Siate (2023) 6 NWLR {pt. 1880) 201 at 236 [-F.

e decision ol the Supreme Court in Ogune V State (2013) 15 NWLR (Pt.
1376) 1 at 27 A-E is instructive on the clements of the offence of abetment
The Court held thus:

“For an aceused person 1o be convieled of abatement under Section 85 of
the Penal Code the prosecution must prove the following ingredicnts:

[ That there was an encouragement, incitement, setting on, instizgation,

promotion or procurement of an offence,

L Any of the above acts must be positive and unequivocal specially
addressed o the commission of offence.

3. The act abetted must be committed in consequence of abetment,

4o An acensed person coukd be convieted of the sffence of abetment on
prool by prosecution of any of the acts mentioned in (1) above.

5. o other words, the acts mentioned in (1) above are in the allernative
Al nol cumulative. An encouragement here means an act of making
someone o feel brave or confident enough 1o do somet hing by piving
active approval in support of the crime,  Ineitement ales has (he
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clement ol encouragement. By incitement, the person i provoked by
A strong passion or feeling to commit an offenee.”

My duty here is o on the basis of these clear ingredients, delermine whether the
proseeution has primy lcie made oul & ease Lo allow the ¢all o be made 1o 1he

delendants subjeet of this Count (e enter o delonec,

Here too. it is clear that the dircetion ol the law, which the 4™ 5% 6" and 7"
|.?L'.‘|L_"r|l’.|tlli|:5 were alleged (o lave abetied the 1% Defendant in disobeying was
nol exactly lrmulated or defined. 17the abetment is 10 ~save™ 4", 5" 6" and
7" Defendants from charpes of taxes due (fom them Lo the Federal Gavernment,
there is no cvidence of the regime of taxes that 4", 3" 6" and 7" Delendants
have been saved Trom and il there was any waiver at all, and that the waiver was
at the dircetion of 17 Delendant und indeed {5 any injury was occasioned Lo any

person or the public,

As i Count 2, none of the witnesses lor the prosceution led evidence us 1o
how, when and where the Defendonts subjeet of this Count shetied the 13
defendant to disobey the direction of any law with respeet to payment of taxcs,
At the risk of sounding prolix, absolutely no evidence whatsoever was led as o
the tax the 4™ 1o 7" delendants were due 1o pay under the OPLL 245 apreement
or indecd any other tax and also how they instigated 1 Defendant in a manner
geared towinds committing the alleged offence of disoheving the dircetion of

the Taww 1o shicld them (o paying taxes,

Incleed a5 Tound under Count 2, the prosceution threugh P10 clearly has no iota
or seitilla of evidence to situate this count or provide basis Lo proceed with this
count. Fhey absolutely had no information on the eritical and basic question of
whether Laves were waived at all or not. “The eritical instilutions thal would
have provided the necessary inlormation 1o give life to this Count were not

[urtheoming as already alluded (o,

L the basis ol the evidenee led. there is really nothing disclosing a prima [ucic
. - izt il th : e

offence againgt 47, 575 67 and 77 defendants warranting them to offer any

explanation in defence, They have no case to answer on Count 3 and they are

accordingly discharped.

Count 4 stales thal the 2"'Pefendanton or aboul August 2013 ollered
artlifieation in the sum of N3O0, 000, 000 {Three Tlundred Willion) o

15 O T
saaral Reputic oF Bk
FC T Judicaary
w. J bﬂf’”

oo 34 :‘érr(% 1

- Camt o _1'




Molammed Adake contrary 10 and punishable under Section 118 of the Penal

el e,

Now again, it is obvious that the 2" defendant was charped here wader the
punishment Seetion of the Penal Code [or oflering gratification but the
alfence ilsell is situated under the provisions of Sections 115 and 116 of the
Penal Code which provides as Tollows;

“HS. Whoever being or expeeting to be a public servint aceepts ar abiains
UF agrees thoaceept or attempls to obtain from any pesson for himsell or for
any other person any gratification whatever whether pecuniary or
otherwise, other than lawfel remuncration, as 4 motive or reward —

() far doing or forebearing to do any afficial act; or

(b}for showing or forbearing to show in the exercise of his official
funetions Favour or disfavor to any person; or

(¢) for rendering or attempting to ender any service or disservice to any
person with any department of the public service or with any public
servant as such, shall be punished -

(i) with imprisonment for a term which may extend fo seven years or
willh fine or with hoth:

{ii) iF such public servant is public servant in the service of the State
o of the Government of the Federation acting in a judicial
capacity or carrying out the duties of 3 police officer, with
imprisonment for a term which may extend to fourteen yoears or
with fine or with both.

FEh. Whoever aecepts or abtains or agrees to accept or attempts (o obtain
from any person for himsell or for any other person any gratification
whatever whether pecuniary or otherwise as a motive or reward for
tnddncing by corrupt or illegal means any public servant —

)t o or lorbear ta do any ollicial act: or

(h}in the exercise of the official functions of such public servant 1o show
favour or disfavor to any person; or

(e} to render or affempt to render any service or disservice to #11Y person
with any department of the public service or with any public servant

as sueh,
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shall be punished with imprisonment for a term which may extend (o three

years or with fine or with both,”
he above provisions are clear and unambiguous,

Alsoin the Black's Law Dictionary, 8" Ldition at page 721, Grarification was
defined as “a voluntarily given reward or recompense for a service or

benefit; a pratuity.”

The 2™delendant in his address has situsted the critical ingredients ol the

oflence of grati lcation under Count 4 a5 (ollows:

i, That the 2" Defendant offered or gave to the 17" Defendant the sum of
Three Hundred Million Naira (N300, 000, Q0L D,

il That the said sum of Three Hundreed Million Najia (N300, 000, 000,00}
offered or given by the 2* Defendant to the 1° Defendant was

eralilication.

iti. Thai the said sum of Three Hundred Million Naira (N300, 000, 000.00)
was offered or given to the 1™ Defendant by the 2™ Defendant for any of
the purposes mentioned in Sections 115 and 116 of the Penal Code,

iv. That the offerce or the taker wasfis & public officer.
v. That the offeree nccepted the gratification,

In the case of FRN ¥V Ademola (2021) LPELR — 58831 (CA) the Count of
Appeal identilicd the clements of the offence under Section 115 (1) of the
Penal Cade as Jollows:

“oaAs i relates (o count 13 which charges the Respondent for attempling
te obtain gratification in the sum of N250, 000, 000 Trom one Saani Shaibu
Teidi as o motive for showing favour in the exercise of his official funetions
contrary lo Section 115(b) of the Penal Code, Seection 115 {(b) of the Penal
Code provides as follows: “115, Whoever bring or expecting to be a public
officer seeepls or oblaing or agrees to aecept or attempis (o oblain from
any person for himsell or for any other person any gratification whatever
whether pecuniary or otherwise, other than lawiul remneration, as
motive or reward — (a) for doing or forbea ring to do an official act, or (b)
for showing or forbearing 1o show in the exercise of his alficial functions
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Favour or disfavor 1o a person.” The ingredients of the offence are: i. That
the aceused was a public servant ii. That he has, aceepts or obtaing or
aprees (o accept or altempts to obtain gratification from any person for
himsell or Tor any other person, fii. That the gratification was not legal
numeration, iv. That he accepted the gratification as motive or reward for
showing or lorcbearing to show in the exercise of his official lunctions

favour or disfavor to a person,”

| have here now soughl on the basis of the evidence 1o situate the above
ingredients ol the offence under Count 4. The evidence must, prima facic,

disclose these cloments

| have carclully gone through the evidence led by the proseeution wilnesses and
nohady alluded 10 any offer of gratification of N300, 000, 000 by 2" defendant
to 1™ defendant and or that they were privy o 1™ defendant accepting any (orm
bl pratification lrom 2" Defendant as 5 motive for snowing favour in the
exercise of his official functions. In addition to the failure o establish if @
gratilication was olfered and accepied, no purpose  for which the alleged
pratilication was given was defined or staled,  None ol the proseculion
wilnesses even spoke to this Count at all and this is fatal, There is reall ¥
nothing en which the court can cven rely on to proceed to determine whether a

prima laeie case was raiscd ab mritio,

I evidence PWIO mav have tendered the stilements allegedly made by 2
delendant vide Exhibits P15 (1) — P15 (7) bul a perusal of these statements
show no nexus with the extant Count 4. Relevant here is the evidenee of PW 10
when under cross-examination, he complelely undermined the ver v basis of the
allegation under Count 4. While being cross-examinetd, he stated that he cannat
recall saving that 17 Defendant gave 2™ Delendant N30G, 000, 000 and thit he
cannol also recall saying that 2! Defendant gave 19 Delendant N300, 000, 000,
Iis caually to be noted thal again during eross-cxamination, Exhibits 19, P20
and P21 were tendered theough him,  Tle conceded that the Exhibits were his
carlier testimonics belore my learned brother Ekwo J. of the Federal High
Court in Charge No: FHC/ABJCR/392017 — Federal Republie of Nigeria
Ve Mobammed Bello Adoke and Aliye Abubakar, wherein he was
tlesignated as PWE,

b the sawd Exhibits P19 (pages 124-125) and Exhibit P21 {pages 214-215 and
217-218), PWIL0 uncquivocally admilicd that the said N3D, 00, D08 (Threc
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Hundred Million Naira) was for the purchase of a house sold by 2™ defendant 1o
17 defendant, which was [inanced iy & temporary overdralt from Unity Bank
bul which was Fater retrieved by the 2" delendant and sold 1o Central Bank of
Nigeria and that he subscquently paid back this sum to the 1™ Defendant,
FFurthermore he agreed that the same amount subject of the extant charpe 15
cauadly the same amount subjeet of the charge ol the Federal [fizh Court,
PW IO s effectively saying here that the sums forming the fulerum of the
dllcgation ol gratification under Count 4 is the same sum he agrecd ai the
Federal ligh Courd 17 Delindant got as & wemporary overdrall from his
Bunkers, Unity Bank to pay for a house he bought from 2™ Ielendanl. PWI0
asseried at the Pederal High Court that their investizations showed that the 2™
Delendant sold the property o 17 Defendant but that when 2 Defendant later
sold the house 1o Central Bank, he paid the same sums he collected for the

property back o 1% Delendant.

The bowam line is that, again prima Tacie, there i nolhimg presenicd by the
prasecution on this Count situting the critical clements of the olfence that
would put the count in g commanding position to call on 2™ defendant to ollcr
some explanation, There is no nexus or link between the evidence led and the
ilence as charged under Count 4 as no witness mentioned the name of 2™
Phefendant in relation 1o this Count or said anvihing which implicated him,

My canclusion or linding is that the prosceution has ailed 1o cstablish g prima
facic ease ngainst the 2™ defendant with respect to Count 4. 1le has no case o

answer and he is accordingly discharped,

Un Count 5, the 1% delendant is charped with accepling gratilication of N300,
OO0, 000 in the exercise of his oflicial functions contrary 1o Section 116 (b) of
the Peaal Code,

I had under Count 4 sitiated the ingredients of the offence under Seetion 116
of the Penal Code. Sce alse FRN V Ademola (supra). [ need not repeal the

vlements,

Again un Lhe evidence, the unctions of the oflice that 17 Delindant s alleged 1o
have bueen exercising was not specilied.  There is nothing on the evidence
ndentilying wheo offered any gratilication and the amount 1o 1% defendant and
or who was there who wilnessed the offer and who saw when it was gecepled.
There is cyually abselulely nothing in cvidence situating the purpose for which
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the alleged pratification was issued.  Not one purpose svithin the purview of

Sections 115 und 116 of (he Penal Code was identificd or specilicd by any

WilIEss,

Indeed not a single witness mentioned the name ol 1™ Delendant in relation wor
i commection with this olflence or said anything implicating 1*Defendant in

relation 1o this Coundt.

There 15 really nothing on the evidence linking 1™ defendant with the olTence
widur Count 5. Again il s inderesting (o note that under cross-cxamination, and
qustag i Count 4. PW 10 agreed that the N300, 000, 000 v Count 5 is the same
amount. in respeet of which 1% defendant is lacing trial at the Federal 1igh
Court and that he informed the court in that other proceeding that the N300,
000, 000 was an overdeall granted by Unity Bank Lo cnable 1™ Defendant pay
lor a property he bowght rom 2" Defendant and that when 2™ Delendant later
sold the propeny o Central Bank of Nigeria, he refunded 1he amount back 1o 1™
Defendant which compromises the very essence of Counl 5,

Again, under cross-cxamination, PW10 stated that he cannot recall saying 1™
defendant gove 2™ defendant N300, 000, 000 and also that he cannol recall
suving 2" defendant gave 15 delindant N300, 000, 000,

With respeet 10 Count 5, the conclusion T must necessarily come (o is that fom
the almest palpable dearth of evidence an recerd in relation to this Count, it is
clear that the prosceution has nol made out any case by any means against 17
defendant requiring him to enter a defence on Count 5. The 1" defendant hus
i case o answer on Count 3 and s discharged aecordingly,

Ihe remaining Counts 6 - 40 involves only the 3 e fendant and othes PLISONS
al Jurge. As indicated carlicr, the counts that contain the same allegations shall
b cansidered together and elear findings made with respect 1o cach count for

purposes ol elarity,

Comnts 6, W, 15 and 23 ave all counts of Conspiracy contrary o the provision
ol Section 97 (1) of the Penal Code.

Count 6 states that 3"Delendant while being Company Seeretary and |egal
Adviser ol 47 Defendant with (Munzmuna Seidougha and Dozie Loya ltele
now at large) between 26™ Auguost, 20011 and 6" september, 2001 in Abuja
conspived 1o commit an Hlegal et wowit Criminal Breach of trusi conlrary
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to Section 97 (1) of the Penal Code, Count 10 situstes that 3™ defendant with
(Munamuna Seidougha, Amaran Joseph and Dozie Lova Btcte, now al large)
conspired on or ahout 2™ June, 1998 in Abupa to commitl felony to wil: Torgery
contrary to Section 97 (1) of the Penal Code. Count 15 charges 1Defendant
with same persons under Count 10 who are at large of having conspired on or
ahout 27" November, 1998 in Abuja lo commil [elony o wil; forgery contrary
io Section 97 (1) of the Penal Code and Onally under Count 23, the 3
delendant with the same persons as in Counts 10 and 15 were charged with
canspirmcy 10 commil felony 1o wil: [orgery ol 8 Malabu Oil and Gas 1d board
resolution contrary Lo Section 97 (1) of the Penal Code.

I1 55 10 be noted immediately that in all these Counts ol Conspiracy it 15 only in
Count 23 that the particulars of [orgery was somewhal streamlined and or

ilentificd.

The charges contained in Counts 6, 10 and 15 arc vaguc and do not disclosc
precisely the allegations of erime for which the 3™ defendant could be legally
called upon 1o defend. Al these Counts posit is that the 3™ Delendant:

|, Conspired with others 1o do an illegal aet o wit:
“eriminal breach of feast” (Count &), No more,

2 Conspired to commil felony 1o wit:
“forgery” (Counts 10 and 15), No more.

It 15 therelore difTicult on the basis ol these Counts as formulated 1o properly
discern where and how o praper and meaninglul consideration of the evidenee
can be sitwaled to determine i a prima facic casc has boen discloged, Tt has
never been the duty of the court to speculate with respeet o the nature of the
oflenge a defendant s charged with and the evidence to situate the elements of
Lhe oflences. This duty as | staled carlier 5 nol and cannot be a [unction ol

conjeclure or pucss work.

Mow because there are other Counts in the extant eharge which do not disclose
precisely the particulas of the oflfence the delendants are charged wilh, 1t may
be necessary w draw attention o the following provisions of ACIA, 2015,

Section 194 (1) and (2} provides thus:
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“194(1) A charge shall state the offence with which the delendant s

charged.
(1) Where the law ereating the offence:

(#)gives it a specilic name, the offence shall e desceibed in the charge
by that name only; and

(bidocs nol give it a specilic name, so much of the definition of the
nffenee shall be stated as to give the defendant notice of the facts of

the olTenee with which he is charged.”
Seetion 19641) Provides thus:

“196(1) The charee shall contain such particubars as (o the thme @nd place
of the alleged offence and the defendant, il any, against whom or the thing,
il any, in respect of which it was committed as are reasonably sofficient to
give the defendant notice of the offence with which he is charged.”

Section 1949 provides thus

190 Where the nature of the affence is such that the particulars required
by scetions 194 and 196 of this Act do not give the defendant sulficient
notice of the matter with which he is charged, the charge shall also contain
such particelars of the manner in which the offence was committed as will

be sullicient For that purpose.™

Vhe above provisions appear to me sell explanatory and projects the
imperalive of a charpe containing all necessary particulars ol a particular
allence as will be sulficient lor that purpose. A Count that 15 nol clear or
precese or deliberately ambiguous as n ths case ercates its own challenges and
severely limitmg the Courls remil o appropestely deal with (he specific
criminal conduel, Sce FRN & Anor 'V lfegwu (2003) LPELR — 3173 (8C).
[ oy these impact the counts will soen be revealed.

Morw | had carlicr i this Ruling sivated what Conspirncy entails and s

clements i the light of extant pravisions of the Penal Codde

It may only be apposite as T siluale from the evidence whether a prima facic
cose of conspiracy has heen made out to refer 1o a reeent pronouncement ol the
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supreme Cowrd in Usman ¥V Kano State (2023) NWLR (pt.1881) 599-623-624

where the court staled as Tollows:

*The offence of conspiracy is an agreement between (wo or more persons to
do an unlawlul act or to do a lawful act by unlawful means, The gist of the
affence is predicated on the formation of the agreement alone, not in doing
ol the ael or purpose for which the conspivacy was lormed. Duoe to the
nature of the offence of conspiracy, it is rarely or seldom proved by direet
evidenee but by circumstantial evidence and inference from certain proved
act. The erucial faetor in the offence of conspiracy is the mecting of the
minds of the conspirators to commil an olTence and the meeting of the

minds need wol be physical™

1 had carlier stated Connt 6, All it says is thal the parlics conspired 1o do an
tllegal sct, to wit: Criminal breach of Trust withoul delincating or
streamlining with clarity what the offence is all about. 1 think it is sale 1o again
underseore the point that the contents ol o charge or counl as in this case should
ok be subject of speeulation and inlerence; rather the essential ingrediens of
the eflence must be disclosed. This is an inalicnable right of the Accused under
sSection 36 (6) (a) of the 1999 Constitution. Sce Timothy V FRN (2008)
ALL FWLR (pt.d02) 1136 at 1152 — 1153,

Agam | must underscore the point that Conspiracy and the offence conimitted
in purswanee thereof are two separate and distinel offences, An Accuscd can
ne found guilty of one and not guilty of the ather or vice versa depending on the
evidence. Similarly a discharge on the count ol conspiracy musl nol invelve a
discharge on the substantive offence or vice-versa, Much will depend on the
evidence avatlable and the surrounding circumstances ol cach particular, See
Alanoe V AG. Bendel State (supra).

A charge or count in my apinion, shall contain such reasonuble particulars as 1o
time and place ol the offence and the person, if any againsl whom or thing, il
i respeet o which it was committed as are reasonably suflicient to give the
accused notice of the matter with which he is charged.

Ihe Bottem Tine is thal there cannot be any exeuse for a count of eanspiracy nol
1o fully comtain the essential clements of the olTonee or reasonable particulars of
the oflence allowing the accused know the charge he is lacing and this then puts
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the court in o clear commanding position to determine the key question of

whether at this stage, a prima facic case was made out,

The way 1 understand the law, conspiracy or the lormation of the agreement

cannal be sitwated s vacoum but in relation 1o the tlnirlg ol an undaw il aet or

o de o lawlul act by unlawlul means. A (enable Count must therefore donate
whal the conspiracy relates to, 10 provide a lirm basis 1o siluate the clements,
i simply state that the Delendants conspired 1o commil breach of trust and
leave 10 at that, us staded carlier is vague, tenous and does not donate any known
o eclear ollence: 'This for me undermines this count ab initis,

Now Section 197 of ACIA provides thus:

“Where a defendant is charged with eriminal breach of trust or fraudulent
appropriation of property, itis sufficient to specify the gross sum in respect
of which the offence is alleged to have been eommitted and the dates
between which the offence is alleged to have been committed without
specilying particular items or exact dates, and the charge so framed shall
be deemed o be a charge of a single offence,”

the above is clear, Despite the above observations, but out of abundance of

caution, let us sce what can be made ol the oflence as charged under Count 6.

I sting of this eount 6 is thal the 3™ defendant with others al large. conspired
L ey anillegal aey, w wit eriminal breach of trust conlrary Lo Section 97 (1)
and punishable under Seetion 312 of the Penal Code.

section 312 44 the punishment Scction of Criminal breach of trust but the
eltence is precisely delined under Section 311 as follows:

Y311 Whoever, heing in any manner entrusted with praperty or with any
dominion over property, dishonestly misappropriates or converts to his
own use that property o dishonestly uses or disposes of that property in
violation of any direction of law preseribing the mode in which such trost js
(o be diseharged or of any legal contraci express or implicd, which he has
made touching the diseharge of such trust, or willfully suffers any other
person so to do, commitls eriminal breach of trust,™

A key phrase “dishonestly” appears in the above provision and it is defined
under Section 16 of the Penal Code as [nllows:

— g




“A person is said to do g thing “dishonestly” who does that thing with the
intention of eausing a wrongful gain to himself or another or of causing loss

to any ather person.”

lhe challenge here s that without situating the reasonable particulars of the
ullence of conspiracy or what the conspiracy is all about in the Count, how docs
one now sitwate the ingredients of conspiracy in the light of the evidence on
recond 1o determine whethera prima facie case has been made? | just wander,

As cartier alluded 10, by the very nature of the offence of Conspiracy and the
attendunt dilticully in csiablishing same, the prosceution has a duty to situale
elear purticulars of the offence and then place prima lacie evidence, that will
ullow the court draw the necessary inference thot there was some sort of plan
hotehed in secreey in furtheranee of the commission of an illegal acl. 'The
situating ol these prima facie facts cannol be lefl to speculation or conjecture or

one lor address ol counsel as staled carlier,

On the evidence. apart Trom PW3 and PWI10 who made reference o 3™
defendant and the role he played as Company Sceretaryd/legal Adviser of 4
Defendant, none of the other prosceution wilness made any specific complaints
alany Kind Lo provide lactual busis 1o situste conspivacy under this Count
P may know 3% defendant as a foundation seerctary of 4™ delendant but no
where deed he stote or allude 1o any vgreement between 3™ delendant and the
uthers to commit criminal breach of wust. The same position largely holds in
w evidence of PW2 — PWO,

respect of |

I is true that the PW IO may have given a wajectory of the investigations they
conducted. but en the evidence, PW10 only diveetly inlerfaced with 3™
defendant and stated tha he was the company secrotary and legal adviser of 4"
delfendant and that he in turn interfaced between 4™ defendant and Corporate
Altaies Cammission (CAC) as the company sceretary/legal adviser but on the
evidence there s nothing in real teems situating an agreement between
delendanis o do an illegal act or an act that is legal but by illegal means, PW10
never had any inleraction with the alleged  co-conspiralors  Munamuna
Seidvugha and Dogie Loya Biete all through the course of investigations.
Ingdecd he indieated that all efforts w0 oot to mect them failed,

Mow 1l as the avthorilics posit thal the offence of conspiracy is hatched in
utmast secreey, then al this stage, the prosecution must be able o place beloee




Uhe wourl some basis moretation W the Count to eall fora response or fnther
inguiry.  Nothing with respect Lo Lheir interactions, discussions, meoelings or any
othet communication thal exisls between the 3™ defendant snd the co-
conspirators that would provide the basis (0 infer an agreement Lo commit an
olfence was placed belfore the courl, This duty is not one for address of eounscl
s slated carlior bul these clues o siwate conspiraey must be provided or
whentilied in evidenee and clearly streamlined, The statements ol 3" defendant
vide Exhibit P17 (1-4) where he clearly denicd any wrong doing does nol
ciually supply clements that would prima facic situate conspiracy between 37
delendant with the co-conspirators 1o commit criminal breach of trust,

The botom line i5 that there is really nothing on the cvidence, except the court
engages n speenlative posturing, that suggest how, in whal manner, by what
means, where and under whal eircumstances, whatsocver, that the alleged
conspimey or agreement 1o commit the unclear and undefined offence ook
place under Count 6. AL diflerent levels as demonstroted above, this count
appears [utally compromiscd.  The exereise Lo even situate the evidence was
done vut ol caution cven iF might wm out o be academic and with no judicial
value to the clear extunt that Count 6 is not specilic, clear and precise with
respect o the nature ol the offence ol conspiracy alleged.

On the whele, my conelusion is that the prosceution has (ailed 1o cstablish a
prima facic cnse against the 3 defendant on Count 6.

On Count 10, 3 defendant i charged with (Munamuna Scidougha, Amaran
Tosephand Dowie Lova Llete, now at large) on or about 2™ June 1998 conspired
Lo commit Telony 1o wils [orgery contrary 1o Section 97 (1) of the Penal Code
and punishable under Section 364 of the Penal Code.

Mow forgery is delined in Section 363 of the Penal Code as [ollows:

“363. Whoever makes any false document or part of a document, with
intent to eanse damage or injury to the public or to any person to support
aiy claim or title or to cause any person to part with property or to enter
into any cxpress or implied contract or with intent to commit fraud or that
may be committed, conunits forgery; and a false document made wholly or
i part by ergery is called a forged document.”
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e judicidl authoritios From owr Superior Cou projects the following clements

e estublish lorgery:

“la) That there is a document in writing,

(b} That the document or writing is forged.

{e) That the forgery is by the accused person.

() That the accused person knows that the document or writing is false,

(e} That the weensed intends the forged document to be acted mpon o the
prejudice of the vietim in the belief that it is genuine.”

See the cases o Alake V The State (1991} T NWILR (pt.203) 95; Mustapha V
FRN (2018) LPELR — 46565 (CA) und Agwuna V A.G. Federation (1995) §
NWLR (p1.34%6),

I st again, even at the risk of prolixity refer 1o the same debilitating featurcs
of this Count same a5 in Count 6.A5 a prefatory point, T note thal what the
conspirilers were said o have conspired to forge here was nol situated or
ilentificd ut all. The count simply indicates that they conspired 0 commil
lelony o wil: forgery. No more, Without relerence 1o any particular document,
this count is equally vague, unclear and imprecisc,

As Tramed. this Count cannot on its own constilute an ollence.. 'The commission
of allence of lorgery within the purvicw of Section 363 of the Penal Code
cannat be framed i a vacuum bul certainly in relation to o decument in wrilmg
which projects falsity, Connt 10 does not situate [orgery in relation o any
document and therefore inherently vague, tenuews and or untenahle,

Iy the event | am even wrong here wo o in Count 6, the duty of the prosceution
Lo prima facie pravide the court with the prima |acie evidence that would
require the 3™ delendant Lo put in his defence.

[ have again gone through the entire evidence of the prosecution witnesses and |
cannot situme o lirm Getual basis to situate g conspiracy Lo fovge uny undelined
document on about 2™ June 1998, The absency el any clear document subject
of the forgery presents a huge challenge bere, Any atiempt atl trying to siluale
any parbicular evidenee as | atlempled under Count 6 will essentially he hugely

b speculative exercise which 1 have e judicial libertics o indulge in,
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For whalever it s waorth, on the evidence, it was only PW6 who came [rom
Corporaie Adlarrs Commission, the statutory body ehareed with incorporation
ol companics and [iling of documents of incorpoeration related 1o companies in
Migeria and keeping ol records of companics that alluded 1o the fael that two
forms CAC 2 (particulars of sharcholders of 4" defendant) and CAC 7
(particulars ol direclors of existing dircclors of the 4" defendam) were liled
semetime on 10" June, 2010 without following due process.

W6 mentioned one Mr. Aye as the person who presented the documents and a
Corper serving i his unid thal processed the documents, No mention was made
ol 3" defendant or any of the co-conspirators by this stalf from CAC as having

anything to do with these decuments.

W whoo elearly does not work with CAC may have relerenced in his
evidence that o lalse Malabu Ol and Gas Board Resolution was made
appemting certain persoms as dircctors ol Malabu Ol and Gas but here apain, he
did not wdentily any specific docament that the defendants conspired 1o forge or
provide the necessary evidence to situate the elements of lorgery. e also could
not mecl any ol the other 3 co-conspirators and could therelore from the
evidence not situate or show, il any. the discussions, mectings or any
commaunicalions between the conspirators that ook place or the eircumstances
prowviding laetual basis to allow for the necessary inlerence 1o he made tha

partics hid an agreement 1o commit an illegal act as alleped.

As stated carlier, the meeting of the minds of the conspiracy need not be
physical, bul the most important point is that however the conspiracy is
hatched. there must be basis, even il minimal o situale the conspiracy.  The
conspiracy must also be predicated on an actual offence with particulars defined
and not one at lavge as done here,  This cannot be a matler of guess work or
speculation.  Again as in Count 6, there is nothing from the evidence (that
suggest, how. in what manner, by what mcans, where and under whal
circamstances whitsoever that the alleged conspiracy or agreement o commit
Lhe undefined offence ol lorgery wok place. These important elements cannot
be situated in the stalements of 3™ defendant vide Exhibit LT (1-4).

Wiy conclusion bere e i that the proseeution on the basis ol the unelear
Count and cven the unelear evidenee related 1o this Count hag nol been able to
cstabilish a prima facie case against the 3" defendant with respect to Count 10,

e 1 accardingly discharged on this Connt 10, e
e —" P
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Count 13 sutlers the same Jaie as Counts 6 and L) and | sdop the reasoning
carlier made in relation 1o these Counts. Count 15 equally projects that the 3°
delendunt and his co-conspirators conspired 10 commit felony o wit; forpery.
Woomore. As stated carlicr, this s extremely vague and undermines the Count

Qe e,

Agam, oul ol abundance of caution, let me say that in additien 1o the reasons
advanced under Count 10, here oo, the only witness [rom the superintending
suthorily over company deocumentation, the CAC, PW6 did not at any time
mention 3" defendant and the co-conspirators with the filing ol any Board
Resolutions or any CAL Torms, The two identilied docoments Giled mentioned
by I'Wé were done by an identilied person and no link or nexus was established
between the person and the defendants eharged under Count 135,

WL may equally bave alluded 1o the Tact that certain documents were fled at
the CALC hut he did not specifically define any forged document relative 1o this
Count and situate prima facic the clements of forgery, 11e did not also meet any
ol the co-conspirators charaed with the 3 defendamt and there is cqually
nething [rom the evidenee that sugeest how in whalt manner, by what means
where and wnder what eircumstances whatsoover that the allesed conspiracy or
agrecment o commit the undefined offence under Count 15 ook place. As
alluded 10 already, this exercise of even rying to consider the evidence 1o
determine whether a prima facic case was made oul appears entirely academic
anel an esercise, sudly, with no wililarian judicial value in the light of the clear
situation that these Counds 6, 10 and 15 did not disclose ressonable particulars
ol the olfence of conspiracy they are predicated on o provide basis 1o determine
meanmglully whether a prima facic case situating the elements of forgery has
heen made oul,

For elear reasons demoenstraled above, the prosecution has here ton, nol made
ol prima facic case againgt the 3" delendant on this count 15 requiring him

Liv eniler i defenee,

Fmully Coumt 23 unlike Counts 6, 10 and 15 cledrly and explicitly, to a
ressonable extent, provided particulars or dircction ol the charge ol conspiracy
wherein it stales that 3™ defendant with iMupnamuna Secidoupha, Amaran
Joseph and Dozie Loya Elete, now al large) on or aboui 18" December,
2006 conspired to commit felony o wit: forgery of 2 Matabu Ol and Gas

Limited board resolution. The provision of the reasonable particulars of the
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alfenee to some extent hore 15 a tacit recognifion by the prosecution itsell that
Counts a; 10 and 15 duv not contain the neecssary clements of the offences of

it II'I‘-il‘.-:i!'i I{‘_'n r

Now on the evidence. this board resolution of 4" Defendant said to have heen
made on or about 18" December, 2006 was not produced in evidence and
most impertuntly, there i3 nothing in the evidence of the prosceution witnesses
linked to this resolution that was not produced 1o situale the inforence of an
existence and the intention o purpose ol the conspiracy,  Nobody [rom the
Hoard wag presented o siuate these complaints, As stated carlicr PW 10 on the
evidence did not Jead evidence directly on this particular specilic Board
resolution subject ol this Count Lo situate the clements of conspiracy and he
never met or had any meetings with the other alleged co-conspirators and he did
nol provide on the evidence anything w project a meeting of the minds w do or
cause 1o be done an illegal act or legal act by an illegal means. PWe rom CAC
did not impugn or challenge any Board Resolution Tiled at the CAC by 3"
Defendant o link him o any impugned documents of 4" Defendant (iled at the
UAL, The poml o again make clear is that the conspirators need not be in the
same pluce and they need not necessarily have played their respective roles in
the plod at the same ime but the evidence must, prima facie. siluale evidence o
atlow Tor a proper inference of conspiracy 1o be nide which 1 cannot siluate in
this vase bevond the construction of the narrative in the address of the
1 s stated earlier is no substitute Tor evidenee,

prosceution whie

Cin the whale, | hold again that the prosecution has not placed before the Court
anything  tangible situating  intcractions,  discussions.  mectings or  any
communication that existed between 3 delendant and other co-conspirators
that would provide the Tactual basis o infer any agrcement lo commit the
ollence of Conspiracy (o lorged the undefined Board Resolution of 4

Pelendant charged under Count 23,

Here too, the conclusion | have arrived at is that no prima lacie case has been
made by the prosceution on Count 23 against 3" Delendamt and he s

acenrdingly discharged,

Counils 7, 8 and % cssentially charges the 3% Defendant with ihe ollences ol
dbetment contrary 1o Section 85 of the Penal Code and punishable under

Section 312 of the same Penal Code.
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| had carfier on stafed the relevant provisions of the Penal Code on abetment
and also stated the elements of the offence. | need not repeat these again.

et me however here add the case ol Soleiman V State (2023) 6 NWLR
{pd. T880Y 201 at 236 where the Supreme Courd capiured the essence of the
allence ol ahetment in the lellowing words as lellows:

“In a charge of abatement, the primary element in establishing the guilt s
the mstizgation ol a positive act geared towards committing the offence.
WVherefore a pevson is said to have abetted the doing of & thing when he (i)
mstigates any person fo do that things or (i) engages with one or more
persons in any conspiracy lor the doing of that thing; or intentionally aids
or feilitates by any act or illegal omission, the doing of that thing, See
Mjovens ¥V State (1973) All NLR 371 and Upahar ¥ State (2003) 6 NWLR

(pt.B16) 230.™

The clear purport or impord of the provisions of the Penal Code and the judicial
authorities cited arc clear, particularly at this stage where we are not dealing
with the question o prool ol the allegation; the prosecution has  the
reaponsibility o cslablish or show prima lacie thal an elfence was abetted and
the abetted olTence was commitied in conscquence ol the abetment.

Put another way, these seetions and cases projects that the prosceation should
e pble o provide some material or basis Lo show that apart from the abetmoent,
i the act abetted should have been acually committed.  There should
therclore be evidence of gcls or omissions constituting the abetment and also
commission of the act abetied in consequence of the abetment.  This then
provides the maternals even i mimimal, providing basis to call on the defendant
ek citter his delenee.  Sec Kaxa v Stale (2008) 1-2 SC 151 at 194-193;

Sulciman ¥V State (supra); Njovens V State (1073) All NWLR 371

| shll take Counts 7-9 together, Now, under Count 7, the 3™ Defendant whilc
being the I'.'mnpsmi.' Seeretary and Legal Adviser ol 4" Delendant is said 10 have
between 26" Aupust, 2001 and 6" September, 2011 did abet Munamuns
Seidoughs and Chief Dangie Loya Edete (o dishonestly convert Lo their use the
sum ol 83390, 4536, 90600 ({Three undred and MNinety Six Million, IFour
| lundred and Filly Six Thousand, NMine Hundred and Six United State Dallars)
ondy  lroem Malabu (il and Gas Ld acecount with Kevslone Bank Ne.

100535208,
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Vinder Count 8. the 3 Delendam while being Campany Scorctary and Tegal
Adviser of 4" Defendant between 29" Seplember, 2013 did abet Munamuna
scicongha and Chiel Daucia Loya Etete 1o dishonestly convert to their use the
sum el 574, 271, 750, 00 {(Seven Four Million, Two [Hundred and Seventy One
Thousand. Seven lundred and Fifty United State Dollars) only from 4
Delendant’s account with Keystone Bank No. 1005332028,

Iinally under Count 9, the 3" Defendant again ay Company Seerclary and
Fegal Adviser ol 4™ Delendant is said to have between 29% August, 2011 and
2 September, 2010 in Abuja did abet Munamuna Seidogha and Chief
Davzin Loya Eiete o dishonestly convert 1o their use the sum ol $401, 000,
OO0 (Four TTundred and One Million United States Dollars) from the 4"
Delendant’s accoum with First Bank Nigeria Limited No. 2018288005,

I have carclully situated the evidenee on record and on these Counts, the
evidence of PWS, PW6, PWT and PWI0 provides clear perspective and insight
with respect to whether, a prima [beic case of abetment, has been made oul,

PW3 wave u background ol the case particularly the trajectory ol the facts
surrounding the OPL 245 vansaction.  Withowt poing inlo any details. his
evidence situates or projects that because of the various issucs surrounding the
OPFL24S, invalving  different partics; dilferent legal challenpes including
arbitration: diffcrent court  procecdmgs and  decisions cte,  the  Federal
Liavernmenl through the President dirceted the Altorney General to explorg
wilys ol reselving the lingering dispule which culminated in o Resolution
Agreement tendered as Exhibit P3 dated 29™ April, 2011, PWS stated that in
these meetings W wesolve the dispule, the 3™ defendant and one Chief Dan
Etete represented 4™ defendant, Malabu Ol and Gas,

The PWS said that the AG's ollice got the presidential approval lor the
execution and mplementation of the agreement,  This background s necessary
omy opinton, o properly situate whother o prima Bieie case was made with

rus et Lo Uhese related counis,

Moww owing from Lhis seltlement, payments were made o 4" Defendant as
stited by PWIED with respect w their intorest in OPL 245 and that the monics
Pkl swcording o PWI0 were “misappropriated ™ The key question here is
bevond the representation that the monies paid o 4" Defendant a private
company arising oul of the settlement were misappropriated, where is the prima
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laciv evidence 1o siloate the allegation that 3" Nelendant as Company Scerelary
ubwtted the dishenest conversion ol moneys paid by the Federal Government 1o

4" Delendamt arising out of the settlement?

Now with respeet o the specilic allegations under Counts 7, 8 and 9, PWT and
FWH appeared [or the prosceation [rom Keystone Bank and First Bank
Nigerian Limited.  Their evidenee s basically that aceounts were opened in the
name 0l 4" defendant in their respective branches. They staled that the
decounts were properly apened in compliance with banking regulations without
any anomaly with one Doxie Hiele as the sole signatory, They also aprecd Lhat
payments in and oul was made oul of the accounts but there was no complaint
il any Kind Nowing lrem the transactions carried on the accounts and the

Lransaclions were nol suspicious.

I s relevant o underseore the point that both PWT and PWS from Keyslone
and First Bank do not know 3" defendant and they stated that whenever a
corporate body as in the ease of 4" delendant wants Lo open an dccount and
sives or provides all necessary documents, the banks have what they call &
cheek list which they cross-check with the documents provided 1o ensure thal
the documents are correel and that they conflirmed Irom CAC that the dircetors
presanicd tor the opening ol the aceount are the dircetors of 4™ delendant, They
alsa sued that the banking laws requires them (o reporl all suspicious
transactions but they did not find any of the transactions suspicious on the
aeceunt of 4™ defendant, [ is cqually to be noted that gs staled by PW3, in the
meetmgs mitinted by the Federal Government 1owards 2 linal reselution of the
O 245 dispute, the 4™ Delendant were represented by 3™ Defendant and
Chief Dan Kiete AJdCA Dozic Loya Etete,

I is veally diflicult on the basis of the evidence to situale prima facie how the
vilid opening of the aceounts which received payments by the Federal
Government of Migeria loemted within the Trame work ol a seltlement and the
subsciuent pavments made oul of iU constitules an infraction or ahelment as

charge,

; . | ; - .
It is hereulean 1o locale evidence that the 3™ defendant abetted any inlractions

refated to these counts, The prosecution did not disclose or show what role, it

any, the 3% defendant played in the disbursements of the funds in thesc
necounts, "There is cgually nothing Lo situaie that he plaved o clear specific role
it the appointment of Chiel Dozie Hete as the sole signatory of the aceount or

s
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Wil is Company Secrelary he had any powers or say i the running ol 4™
|delendant or that he advised, encouraged or counscled Dousda Dilete (o CRTTY
ot the transactions in the accounts in question,

. . rl
As stined carlier, both PWT and PWE stated clearly they don’L even know 3

defendant.  There s ecqually nothing on the cvidence situating that as @
Company Seeretary of 4" Delendant with defined duties that he has any
specilic powers or say on how funds of 4" Defendant is to be used or dishursed
particularty when i1 is a common around in this case that he is not g sharcholder
o director of the 4" defendant or put another way, it has not been shown on the
evidence thal he is o member of the Board of Directors of 4™ Defendant who are
the poverning body.  The Courl was not relered to the Memorandum and
Articles of Association ol 4" Defendant to determine if the 3™ Delendam had
the puwers sought 1 be attributed to him and the Court will not speculate,

bam not sure Uhat the proseeution is on fim ground 1o argue that the et that
the 3" Defendant was company secretary ol 4" Defendan and Necingly deall
with sume ol the prosecution wilnesses like PW1, PW3 and PW4 without more
siflices W show that o prima facic case ol abetment was made out on the theee
{3y Connts,

sadly in this ease. there §s nothing 1o prima facie situale CnCouraLemen,
ncilement. setling on, instigation, promotion or procurement of the offences by
FDelendant under Counts 7, § and 9,As stated carlicr, these nels or elements
ol the oflence which dre in the alternative and not ewmulative must be positive
and unequivecal, speeially addressed 1o the commission of e ofTence and not a
marlier lor speculation or address of counsel. There must be some Grm. even il
minimal hasis, o ablow for the call W enter a delence 1o be made. This docs not

exist [ere.

The bottom line is that on these counts, it is really difficult to prima lacie situate
the necessary clements ol the offence of abetment carlier highlishted, Mere
suspivion cannul be o substitute Tor the clements.

My conclusion on Counts 7, 8 and 9 is that (he prosecution has (ailed 1o prima
lacie show that the 3™ defendant dhetted Munamupns Svidougha and Chiel
Elozin Loya Etete 1o dishonestly convert the sums under Counts 7, 8 and 9 or
pul anather sway, the prosecution hos [ailad 1o cstablish a prima facic case
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against 3% defendant on Counts 7, 8 and 9 and 1 hold that he has no case 1o

ansyveer o Lhese counts and he 1s aceordingly discharged.

he nest sel of ollences Lo be considerad are those covered by Counts 11, 12,
I3, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 24, 25 and 26 containing allcgations that 3™
Pefendant made Flse documents or forgery contrary 1o the provision of Section
M3 of the Penal Code and punishable under Seetion 364 of the Penal Code,

Acconvenient sturting point or g proper lake off point 15 to situate the delinition
ol torgery and lorged document as provided under Section 363 of the Penal
Code. Thad done so carlier in this Ruling and stuted the ingredients of forpery.,

[ astin necd pol repeal sume.

It may only be relevant w deline what amounts (o *making a false document
i writing.” In Oduah V FRN (2012) 11 NWLR (pt.1310) 76, the Court of
Appeal stated that the phrase *making a false document in writing” includes
whering o penuine document or writing in any material part, either by crasure,
ablneration. removal or otherwise, and making any material addition 1o the
body of 0 penuine document or writing; and adding 1o & penumne document or
writing anv [alse date, attestation, scal or other matler,

Again here, 1o provide hasis o call on the 3" Defendant o enter a delfenee, the
clemems of forgery or makmg a lalse document should be sitwated on the

evidenee Ted.

Now Comnt 11, states that 3% defendant while being the Company Seerclary
and 1egal Adviser of 4 delendant with others now at large on or about 2™
Juneg, 1998 made a false Malabu Oil and Gas Lid Board Resolution
appointing Alhaji Muhammed Sani Ahmed, Mr. Kweko Amafagha. Alhaji
Hassan | lindu-wabi and Alhaji Aliyu Jabi Mohammed as Dircctors with intent
e commit fraud contrary 10 Section 363 of the Penal Code but | have carclully
gone through the evidenee led. and no where was the existence of this alleeod ly
forged Board Resolution docoment identified and tendered by any of (he
prosecution witnesses and then gitoating the clements of foreery, 1 the
resolution said (o0 have been forged which primarily denoles the forged
wn il

document in writing s not produced and evidence elicited on it,
ditlicult 10 siwte how the other elements of forgery can prima lacie he
estihlished,  None of the witnesses PW1- PWY spoke specilically o the
existence ol thig Trged document and the other elements ol forgery, “The PW 1D




whier alludhed 1o it did not produce it o situate the elements of lorgery. In the
lace ol the conspicuous absence of the alleged false board resolution and dearth
ol evidence to prima lacte siluate the Talsity of any document, Count 11 Appoars
cemmprinmised, af fedio. My conclusion is that the proscecution has not disclosed
A prima facie case on Count 11 against 3 Defendant requiring him o enter his

delencie.

Count 12 like Count T siuates that the 3™ delendant with others now al largo
on or uhowt 2™ June, 1998 made a False Resignation Letter purporting thal
Athaji Hassan Hindu had resigned from the Board of Malabu with intent to
commil Iraud contrary 1o Scction 363 of the Penal Code,

Agiin this resignation letter 10 situaie the elements of forgery was net
tendered in evidence and none of the prosceution witness made any allusions to
this document.  Now it is corceet that PW2, Albaji Hassan Adamu gave
evidence to the elTeet that when Malabu Ol was aboul to be incorporated, he
wits tvited 1 be u share holder by Chicl’ Dan Ftete and he then gave him a
Paeuda name. Hassan Hindu but later that he decided it was not advisahle for
b 1o be a shaveholder ol a private company and that the name be dropped. e
stated that he never participated in the alTairs of the company and that he did not
autherize anyone 1o sign a document for Hindu. For purposes ol situating prima
facic, the clements ol forgery, as stated carlier, there must be o document of
resicnation by Alhaji Hassan [lindu made on or ahogt 2™ June, 1998 a5 g
starling point and then g ease on the evidenee will then made on its lalsity and
then the link made with the 3™ Delendant and the siluating of the other
clements. No such evidence was tendered or presented and one then is curious
a5 1o how Torgery in relation w that particular specific document can be proved

oF & prima [heie case raised in such unelear sinration?

Ihie only letter ol resignation on the record s the one dated 9" June, 2000 and
not 2" June, 1908 as stated in Count 12 and il i5 by onc My, Hassan Hindu
Wabi, lendered as Exhibit P18 (5).  'There is no evidence on the record
situating whether Mr, Hassan Hindu Wabi is the same person with Alhaji
Hussan Hindu and (hat Exhibit P18(5) was made by 3" defendant or that it
wits [ound in his possession or indeed that he had anvthing Lo do with il,

ldeed PWEO under cross-examination stated that Hassan Hindu Wabi docs
ol exist. I is also o be noted that PWI0 siated that Exhibit P18 (3) forms
pant of the documents CAC expunged from their records, 1L is cqually w he
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nerteel that PW IO agreed that these documents cancelled neluding ExhibitP18
{3) were Nied by one Barrister Ayo Ademola who PWI0 interscted with but
vl as now part ol the defendants and who was not called 1o give evidence in
Lhis case even though his name leautures in the list of witnesses the prosceution

wits Lo call 1o give evidence in the case.

Ui the evidenee oo, no nesus was shown belween the said Barrister Ademola
who  ed  these Malabo Oil doeumenis meluding  Exhibit P18 (5) and
3*Defendant or the other co-delendants subjeet of this Count. Tndeed nothing
was placed belore the Courl showing that the suid Barvister Ayo had the
instructions of 3™ Delendant and the other Defendants to [ile Exhibit P18 (5).
Count 12 under the circumstances docs not situate o prima facie case of
loroery asainst 3 defendant. 1 so hold.

Count 13 on the other hand states that the 3% defendant with others now at large
on or about 2" June. 1998, made o False Resignation Letter purporting that
Adivaji M. Sanni had resipned from the Board of Malabo 0 and Gas Lud with
inteal o commil fraud contrary 1o Seetion 363 of the Penal Code,

In sttuating whether o prima facie case has been made here, an imporiant
starting point will be to eeler o the evidence of PWIE, who identilicd himsellay
Muhammed Sani Abucha and that he is alse known 2z Mohammed Suni,
Phere is noreal clarity on the evidence whether the said Alhaji M. Sanni
whose resignation was said o have been forged is ihe same person as
Mubammed 5Sani Abacha and Muhammed Sani and the Court cannot

spectale.

It is relevant to nole that PW1 was nol given in evidence any resignation leter
he may have written [or him o al least siluate the elements of forgery. In
evidenee. PW stated that he is a member ond sharcholder of Malabe Oil and
Giag but that he did not pay lor the shares as no one did PW 1 also alluded to
having copies ol the original incorporation documents which he said he
handed over o EFCC but these were notl tendered in evidence, [le said that
w heard of several allerations and

sometimes m 19498 when he was in detention,
changes in 4" Defendant which he was not privy 1o or pave his consent to. e

idded that there was never a board meeling at Malabo,

Mow with respect 1w this speeifie allegation in Count 13, us stated carlier,
nothing was shown or presented in evidence o siwate the (alsity of the
i Lo
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resignation lelter duted 2™ June, 1998 The anly documents situing any
restgmition 15 Lo be lound via the evidence ol PW9Y, the forensic expert who
armblysed 1he documents tendered vide Exhibits PI4 (1-33). Rclevant here is
Exhibit PT4(27) marked s X8 by the forensic expert which s o resignation
letier of one Alhaji M. Sanni Irom the Bowrd of Direclors of Malabu Oil and
Cias dated 2*Uune, 1998, The conclusion of the expert is apt here in relation 1o
whi made this false resignation leter of 2™ June, 1998 of Alhaji M, Sanni. Ilo

staved thus

“There i5 *no conclesion’ whether the author of the known reguest
specimen signature A-Ad wrote the disputed signatures marked x3, x4, x5,

xf, X8 and 9.7

AL must be underseored 15 the resignation letter of Alhaji M. Sanni subject
of Count 13 and the forensie expert was not clear or had conclusive evidence
1oy show it was lorged. In such palpably unclear situation, it s dilficult o situate
a prima lacie case in the contex! of Count 13 o provide a valid basis 1o call on
3 delendant 1 enter a defence. 1 hold that a prima lacie casc has not been

magle on Count 13

Count 14 again is 10 the effoer that 3" defendant while being the Company
Sceretary/l coal Adviser of 4™ defendant with others large on or about 2"
June. 1998 made o false Form CAC 1.3 particulars of divectors purporting 1o
replace Albapn Mohammed Sanni with the name ol Athaji Sani Mohammed
Ahmed as a Director of 4™ defendant with intent to commil fraud conlrary 1

Section 363 of the Penal Code.

Mow' the question here is where is the Form CAC 2.3 situating this change of
direetors suid o have heen made on or about 2 Junc, 1998 and where again is
the evidence, even i pritma [aeie, to situate the elements of forgery?

I may be relevant to state that the only olTieial brought from CAC, PWE never
gave evidence of any liled alterations of any Form CAC 2.3 of Malabu Ol
made on or ahout 2™ June, 1998, The only applications he referred to were
micle in 2000 making changes in the forms CAC 2 (particulars of
Sharcholders) and CAC 7 (particulars of Directors) of Malaba and the
person who liled these process was not the 3™ defendant.
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Fhave gone through all the documents (rom the Corporate A Mairs Commission
v Exliibits PLE (1-18) and this particular document subjeet of Count 14 docs
not Jorm part of the documents,  The only document on the reeord of
appointment of first Diveetors is that forming parl of the documents tendered by
the lorensic winess, PWY vide Exhibit P14 (28) and there is no replacement of

Iirectors therein.

There s elearly no document placed belire court in wriling which is forged by
3™ defendam and others and it is difficult to sce how forpery and its other
elements can be established in the cireumstances. | have no difficulty in
haldimg that no prima facie case clearly has been disclosed apainst 3"
Delendant under Count 14 to warrant hin 1o be called 1o enter his defence, | so

heldd,

Count 16 like Count 14 states that 3" defendant along with three others at large
on or shout 27" Movember, 1998 made false Form CAC 2.3 particulars ol
Direetors purporting o have allocated 14, 000, 000 shares o Alhaji Jabr
Muhammed and &, 000, 000 sharcs 1o Scidougha Munamuna with intent 1o
commit Fraud but fike most ol the other Counts, this false Form CAC 2.3 of
particulars of Dircetors alluding ta allocation of shares to Albaji Jabi
Malmmmed and Seidougha Munamuna was not identificd anid evidence led

e its alleged falsity.

| have looked again a1 the entire documents tendered from the Corporate Allairs
Commission (UAC) vide Exhibits P18 (1-18) and even the documents tenderod
by the forensic witnoss vide Exhibit P14 (1-33) and there is no where o siluate
the document subject of Count 16 and again no witness spoke to Lhe constituent
clements to silate [orgery.

Again. (1 the document alleged 1o be subject of Torgery in Cound 16 is nol
presented and the Tink with the person accused of the Torzery shown an
situating the clements ol forgery, then it is apain dilficult 1o see how a prima
lacic case can be established in such a situation,  Whal the prosecution has
done here, 45 in most of these comts where the document subject ol the foraery
anel he evidence (o situate Torgery were not defined, is 1o enpuge essentially in
speculalions i the address o build o case oulside ol the body of evidence they
presented,  Adopting such a course of action does not aid its cause in any
munner. With respect 1o Count 16, | hold (hat a prima [acic case has equally
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nol hewn diselosed against 3™ delendant 1o warrant him o be called w enter his

difence,

For the sane reasong ag in Count 16, Counts 17, 18 and 19 cqually docs not
disclose o primy lreie case asainst 3V defendant, The False CAC Form 2.5
allotment of shares of 14, D06, 000 ordinary shares 1o Athaji Jabi Muhammed
und &, OO0, D00 erdinary shares 1o Seidougha Munamuna made with intent 1o
commil fraud subject of Count 17.and the False Malabu O] and Gas T.id Board
Resolution purporting 1o have retained Alhwi Aliye Muhammed as Managing
Director and Seidoughy Munamuna as Director made with intent lo commit
fraud subpeet of Count 18 and the fulse Malabo (3l and Gas Lid Board
Ruesolution with new sharcholding structure to wit Alhaji Aliva Jabi Muhammed
with T4, 000, 000 ordinary shares and Seidougha Mupamung with 6. 000, 000
ordinary shures made with intent e commit Faud subject of Count 19 were all
not tendered or produced i evidence and then evidence led by the prosecution
wilnesses situating the ingredicnts or clements ol Torgery.

Pul another way, these documents sssociated with these Counts were not
wir contents and the clements ol

tendered and evidence given related o o
lorgery.  Without the proven existence of these documents and ity lalsity and
link made with 3" delendant, | am alraid, o prima facie case of [orgery cannot
[nctvally and fegally be countenanced, particularly the other clemets Lo situate
lorgery. s o logical corollury, 1 hold that o prima facie case was thus not
disclosed on Counts 17, 18 and 19 a0ainst 3" Delendant.

Counts 20, 21 and 22 again charges 3" Delendant while being Company
seeretary and Legal Adviser of 4" defendant with athers at large that on or
abont 27" November, 1998 made false resignation letters that Kweku
Amalaghin, Alhaji Mubammed 5. Ahmed and Alhaji Hassan H. Warbi had
resigned from the Board ol Malabo Ol and Gas with intent to commit fraud
contrary w Section 363 of the Penal Code.

Again al the risk of prolixity, and becuuse of the manner Lhis cuse was
presented. itmay be apl W reiterate the principle that by virue of Seetion 363 of
the Penal Code. lorgery is when a person makes any false document or part of
i document with intent w support any claim or cause damage Lo the public or
persan, Sve Brown ¥V Stale (2012) 3 NWLR (pt.1287) 207,
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My these false resignation letters purporting Lo show that Kweku Amafaghs,
o Albaji Hassan H, Wabi resigned from Malabo Oil said 10 have been made
o or ghout 27" November, 1998 in Abuja subject of Counts 20 and 22were
agatn not specilically lendered and nothing was then praflercd in evidence by
iyl e prosecution withesses Lo situale te ulsity ol the documents ar the

elements ol foraery und the nexus iCany with 3™ Delendanl
o] 7 .

The only documents related Lo the resignation of Kweko Amatagha and Alhaji
Hassan Il Wabi lrom Mulabo Ol is dated 9" July, 2000 which appears
different from that subjeet ol these Counls which were all said to have been

matcle o or about 27" November, 1998, Indeed these particular dacuments of

resignation all dated 9" July. 2000 lorms part ol documents tendered by the
CAC vide Exhibit PT8 (1-18) particularly Exhibits P18 (4) and P18 (5) which
the CAC subscquently all cancelled and expunsed fom (heir records beoause
ey were not properly approved  [ollowing due procedure. In these CAC
documints, there is no letler of resignation of Alhaji Muhammed S, Ahmed

subjeet ol Count 21,

I evidence, these cancelled letters of vesignations vide Exhibits P18 (4) amd
P18 (5) of Kweku Amalagha and Adhapr Hassan 1L Wabi was Tiled according 1o
FWAD by one Barrister Ayo Ademola, PWIO said he interagted with this
person but the suid Barrister was not charged ar called 1o give cvidence to
perliaps situate 17 3" delendant had any link with the cancelled resignation

letlers.,

Mo il s true that in the documents endered by the Forensic Amalvst, PWY
vide Exbibit "4 (1-33) particularly Exhibit P14 (18) marked as X situates the
restgnation letter of one Alhaji Mubammed S. Ahmed. 1L s however clear
from the evidence of PWY that Exhibit P14 (18) was used by his tweam o
determing the genuineness of the signatures of PWT on certain documents. 1t
wis thos not used o project or support the case made under Count 21,

The bottom line s that in the light of the evidence above, the complaint of
forgery, cven ol this stage. will not Ny, In the absence of the documents
contarning the forgery, it s dilTicult o discem how the other elements ol
lrgery con eeally be made, On the other hand, i the documents Counis 20-22
are dealing with are Exhibits P18 (4), P18 (5) and P14 (18), then i is elear no
o ||.I:_nr:|. wis led situating the clements ol Torgery and establishing a nexus with

Vdelendunt 1o sitwate o prima facie case of forgery to warrant bim being called

Al




ler defend the case on these Counts. | again hold that on Counts 20, 21 and 22,
that a prima lacie case was nol diselosed apainst 3™ Defendant. [ so hold,

Count 24 stutes that 3 delendant while being Company Scerctary with olhers
at large on or aboul 187 December, 2006 made a false Malabu il and Gas
bowird resolution re-allotting 10, 000, 000 ordinary shares purchased by Pecos
Lnergy 1o Joseph Armaran wilh intent 10 commit [raed contrary (o Section 363

al the Penal Cade.

Again like most of the Counts on forgery, this false board resolution was not
identificd and tendered by any ol the prosecution witnesses with (he neeessary
evidence to Tound the eriticsl elements of frgery. The eritical witness from
CAL WG, did not mention ar allude to the iling of any such resahetion at the
CAL Indeed in the entire documents lendered by PW 10 obiained Trom CAC
vide Exhibits P18 (1-18). ne where did this resolution subjeet of Count 24
Feauture or evidence ol any kind situating elenienis ol loraery clicited and a link

made with 3" defendant.

Aoain i this fulse or forged resolution is not identificd and evidenee of lorgery
given at trial amd elear nesus establishied between the documenl and 3™
defendant, s veally difficull 1o see how a prima facie case of [orgery can

readiy be raised and meaning fully made out,

In the face of complete deanth of cvidenee, | hold that o esse of lorgery or
making a lulse document was ned in the st made omt on Count 24, |
accordingly hold that no prima facic case was made apainst 3" delfendant on this
Conrnt 24 reguiring hin o enter o defence. | so hold,

Count 25 siates that 3" defendant while being the Compuny Sceretary and
legal Adviser of 4 defendant with athers at large on or about 12" August,
L made o Pafse Malabo O and Gasg Board Resolition authorizing opening
ol domiciliary uccounts with First Bank and Keystane Nig, 1id with intenl to
commil lraud contrary o Seetion 363 of the Penal Code,

Mow on the record. 1t is PW7T that gave evidenee in relation o the opening ol
the domviciliary account subjeet of this Count,  Tle tendered in evidence the
relevant acenunt opening documents vide Exhilits 6 (1-38), .




Adain | have carelully Jooked ol the account opening documents and it s
diiliculi w siwate a clear Bosrd Resolution authorizing the opening ol the
domictliary secounts with Keystone and First Bank respectively.

Lhe onfy résolution thal has any scmblance or link with Count 25 are the
documents. Exhibit P6 (34) and what appears to be the coneluding part of
Exhibit Po (34) at the back ol P& (17). Apamn on the evidence no efforl was
made by the prosecution witnesses o delneate and identily the reselution in
gquestion clearly. It is really not the job of the court 0 in chambors he
speculating 45 10 which document a particular Count in the charge relates to or

dealy with,

bar whinever it s worth, what however that can be discerned [rom this
dlocument o (34) and P6 (17) is a resolution passed al an extra-ordinary
general meeting of the company as distinel Trom a resolution of the Board of
ivectors.  There 13 nothing on the cvidence 1o expluin the source ol this
reselution and the court will again not speculate.

Now pn the evidence nothing was placed belore court to show that ne such
. | . r
meeting held on 127 August, 2001 and that no such resolution was prasseed and

thie epurt cunnol leave such an important issue 10 one of guess worl,

O the evidence as al 2011, when this resolomion was made, PW 1, Muhanmmed
Sani Abacha clearlv was in no position 1o give evidenee on what was happening
in Malabu il because on the evidenee he had by then Tiled o challenge at the
Federal High Court in Suit Mo, FIIC/ABJCS2010 1o assert ovwenership of S0%
m Malaho OILPW2 Ambassador Hassan Adamu on his part never participated
in the activities of Malabo Oil and Gas. PW3, Alhaji Aliyu Jabi on his part Jefl
Makibo Chl and Gas m 20001 when he sold his shares, The evidenee ol PW4,
Clhiel Fasawe did nol also sy amything ubout the resolution ar indeed anything

Lt oy with lorgery

Mow PWT who lendered these documents including the resolution when
wxmmined in Chiel did nel make any representation ol forgery o all with respect
e The deeonnt opening documents amd the resolution tsellor that they had anvy
coiwems aboul any of the documents.  Indeed under eross-cxamination, he
stitled that whenever a corporate body wants (o open an account and gives them
all deeuments, they have a eheek list, which they use o cross cheek documents
subsmated o ensore that the documents are in oeder, “Phat in this casc. the bank,

63




heystone ensured due compliance with all that was required of 4% Defendant
belore the account was epened. e also said that all the ransactions related 1o
Vhe secount were ot suspicious at all as the bank is reguired by Taw o report all
stiEmcious transuctions o the relevint authoritics, PWS lrom First Bank pave
evidence corroborating in all material particulars the evidence of PW6 with
respect 1o the opeming of Malabo Oil Account with First Bank, Again on lhe
d, il is diflicult o sitwate prima [oeic the elements of [orgery o putl
| on 3" defendant to enter a defenee on Count

e
the counl inoa lirm position o ca
2

Li

-\.I\l:|

The same pogition holds tue for Count 26 !'1:|E|lir|" (o the allegation that
defendunt and others at large on or about 15" August, 2011 made o lalse
Malabo (hl and Gus Board Resolution suthorizing the opening ol ¢urrent
aeeount ab Keystone Bank with mtent 10 commit frawel,  Tlere oo, whal is on
record vide Exhibit Pa (7) and (9) is a resolution 4t an extra-ordinary General
meeting of 4™ Delendant as distinel rom a resolution passed by the Board.
Aguin there is nothing on the evidonce ol proseculion wilnesses 1o situale the

talsiy ol this resalution,

Cn the evidence as already demonstrated under Cound 25 and the more detatls
rensong advamced therein, which | adopt, 1 hold that the prosceuation has not
prin Tacie situated grounds on [Drgery requiving the conlinuation of the inguiry
under Count 26

My comelusion on both Connt 28 and Caunt 26 i thal the prosceution have not
raised n prima facie case 1o allow the call to be made W the 3" delendant o

eier hig defence on these counts. | so hold.,

The last phase ol the charge covers Counts 27-40 which are all offences
contrary 1o the provision ol Seetion 366 of the Penal Code and punishable

under Seefion 364 of The Penal Cade,

These set of oflences are equally related 1o forgery as indeed the punishment
section of the olfence under Section 364 speeifically slates that whoover
commits rpery shall B¢ punished with imprisonment Toe o e which may
extend 1o fouricen years or with line or with both,

et us hewever take aur bearing lrom Lhe provision of Séction 366 of the Penal

Code which provides us Fellws;
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CWhoever Traudulently or dishonestly uses as genuine any document which
e knows or hus reason Lo believe to be a forge document, shall be prutished
i the same manner as it he had forged sueh document,”

he words “frandulently™ or “dishonestly® appears in the above provision, In
that sence, it muy be relevant o deline what raudulently dnd dishonestly muean

under the Pengl Code as Tollows:

“LA person is said to do a thing “dishonesthy™ who does that thing with
the mtention ol eausing o wronglul gain (o himsell or another or of

cauging loss to any other person.

I7.A person is said to do a thing *fracdulently® or “with intent to defrapd”
wha does that thing with intent lo deceive and by means of such deceit
to obtain some advantage for himsell ar another or to cause loss to any

uther person,™

Mo on the authoritics, the three requirements 1o be established for the
cllence ol using & lerged document as senuine under Section 366 of the Penal

Code g

EoPhat the aecused used as genuine a forged document,

- That the aceused knew or had reason to believe that the document was
P edd anad

Lo That the acensed did so fraudulently or dishonestly, See Mustapha V
FRN (2018) LPELR — 46565 (CA): FRC V Ibrahim (2015} 4 NWLR
(pL 1450} 411 at 430 — 431 H-A,

Agair, the remit of my duty is 10 sce if ITom the evidence, o prima lacic case

=l

his been estublished on these Counts to allow a fir call to be made 10 3

Delendont to enter his delence,

Mow Connt 27 states that the 3 defendant while being the Conpany ‘:'L*n:rl:im'}-
el Lagal Adviser of 4% defendant with others at Jarge on or about 2™ June,
P95 Traudulently used as nenuine a false Malabu Oil Board Resalution whieh
he has veason (o belicve is forged contrary 1o the provision of Scetion 366,

| have deliberntely stated the substance of this Count us prepaved and i is
dilficall to siume the tmport of this Count. particularty the offence denoted or
s clear particulars. The Count appears (o me defiberately vapue as it does not
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situste a clear particular Board Resolution uscd by 3" Delendant and 1o what
particulur cnd or purpose. There was equally no evidence of any kind from the
prosecuting witnesses denoling the fulse resolution that was used as genuine by
wiy ol the detendants w provide basis (o situate whether g prima Jacic casc has

hicen made here.

A proper or compelent Count within the purview of Section 366 mus! siluate
clear clements ol dishonesty or lraud situating that a particular acl was done
with the fnlention to decelve or of causing a wrongful gain to himsell or another
or causing Inss 10 any other person and impoctantly in evidence, the clements to
sittte the offence. See Sections 16 and 17 of the Penal Code {supra}.

O the hasis of the vagueness of the Count and the concomitan lack of clear
dients ol the ollence as charged, o prima Tacic case

s ol been made oot with respeet 19 Count 27, 1 so hold.

Count 28 afleges that 3% Defendant alons with others on or about 2 June 1998
audulentlv used s penuine a false resignation felter purporting Lthat Albaji 11
Hindu had resigned rom the Board of Malabu which he hag reason to believe
was forged. Unlike Count 27, this Count at least situates the particulars of the
oflence with no conlusion as o the eomplaint,

Beon as stuted carlier when dealing with Count 22, this resienation leller of
Allwaji L Hindu made on or about 2 June, 1998 was not lendered by [he
Prosccution,  There is therelore nathing an the evidence 1o situate that the 3™
duelendant vsed as genuine a forged document and had reason o believe it was
lorped doing so dishonestly or fraudulently,  Again as aleeady allyded 1o, the
only document that can be said to have any link with Count 28 is tie lelter of
restgnation ol one Mr, Hassan Hindu Wabi tendered by PW 10 vide Exhibits
P1a (I-18). specilically Exhibit PIS (5) which g stoted earlier were all
subsequently cancelled by the Corporate AlTairs Commission (CAC Apain, s
staled earlier, there was no ¢larity whether the Me, Hassan Hindu Wabi is the
siome Alhagi H. Hindu, the subject ol Count 28,

Wow Exhibit P18 (5) s dated 9™ June, 2010 and not 2™ June, 1998 as
contamed in Count 28 and by the evidence of PWe and PW 10, these cancelled
documents were presented by one Barrister Ayo and nothing was presented in
evidence showing that he hud any relationship with 3™ defendant or that he
acted based on his instructions,  Again, as stated carlicr, the said Barrister Ayo

-
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was nol presentaed i Court 1o give evidence relatng to the filing ol this and
other dhowuments al the CAC 1 s clear thal the ngredients ol the offence
under Connt 28 was nol prima Facie sivaled by the prosceution. There s
therelore no lactual or lezal basis to call on 3™ delendant to enter his delenee on

this Count 28, |50 hold

Uy Count 29, the charge i thul 3" defendant on or sbout 2™ June, 1998 alonp
with others at large used as genaine o lalse resignation Jetter purporting that
Alhap M. Sanni had resigned brom the Board which he had reuson o behicve
was lorged. Again on the evidence, there 15 no elarity as to whether Alhaji M.
sanni is one and the same person with Mohammed Sani Abacha and

Mohammed Sani.

Agiin in the course of weating Count 13, 1 had deall with the fact that the only
resignation letter ol 2™ June, 1998 said 1o have been made by Alhaji M. Sanni
15 10 be found in the documents tendered by the lorensie analyst from EPCC
whao testilicd as PW9Y and wendered Exhibits P14 (1-33) in evidence, The
resignation letter in the bundle of documents is Exhibit P14 (27) with the mark
K& oni

I bd redeired te the findings reached by the forensic analvs| particularly in
respeet of this resignation of Alhaji M. Sanni dated 2™ June, 1998, At the risk
ol sounding prolix, his findings are 1o be effect that there is o “no-coneclusion”
finding with respeet to whether the author of the known request specimen
signature A-Ad wrole the disputed signatuees marked X2-X6, X8 and X9.

A8t must be eeiterated is the resignation letter in question, .ot me perhaps
here quote what PW said in his report with respect o the “no-conclosion™
Minding vide Exhibit P14 (6), The following is relevant:

“An tinconclusive™ opinion is expressed when o meaninglul coneclusion
regirding authorship eannat be given based upon the samples provided. In
other words, the evidenee is insafficient to support any other opinion.®

The forensic expent also added on what ineonclusive connules as Tollows:

“This opinien reflects signilieant uncertainty relative to the identification
or elimination of the writer of a questioned docoment. There are a number
of reasons that can lead (o this kind of opinion, sueh as insufficient or
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incompatible specimen materials, poor reproduction quality of originals (as
in the case of photocopy or fax material ete.)”

Lhese clear lindings and opiion of the expert forensie analyst alone in my
iion undermines a key ingredient of the offence under Section 366, that the
seensed vsed a lorged document as genuine, In the absence of clear evidenee 1o
situale that the said document or resignation letter was forged and used as
senuine by 3" defendant and the others at large, it would be dilficult, il n
impossible (o prove the other elements of the ofTence under Seetion 366 of the

Pensl Code.

[ ]

In the circumstances, | incline to the view thal a prima facie case has not been
isclosed with respect to Count 29, 1 g0 haold,

Lawill take Counts 30, 31 and 32 1opether,

Wil respeet to Count 300 0t states that the 3" Delendant while being the
Company Secretary/Legal Adviser of 4 delendant with others @t large on or
about 2" June. 1998 Traudulently used as genune, a false Form CAC 2.3
particulars of Pireetors purporting o replace Alhaji Mohammed San] with the
tme Ahmed Muhammed Sani as a Dircctor in Malabu Ol which he has reason
o believe was lorged, Count 31 states that the 3™ defendant with others ai
larze on or aboul 27" November, 1998 Mraudulently used as genuine o Form
CAC 2.3 particulars of Directors of Malabu il and Cag purporiing 1o
illocate 14, 000, 000 Million ordinary shares o Albaji Advu Jabi Muhammed
and 6, 000, 000 ordinary shares 10 Seidougha Munamuna which he has reason
Lo believe was lorped.  Count 32 stated that the 3" defendant with others at
large on or about 27" November, 1998 used ag genuine a false Form CAC 2.5,
allotment ol shares of Malaby Ofl purporting to allocate 14, 000, 000 ordinary
shares to Albaji Aliva Jahi Muhammed and 6, 000, 000 ordinary sharcs 1o
seidoughn Munamuna which he has reason 1o belicve was lorped.

Un these theee (3) Counts, o common thread running hrough these counts 15
that mone ol these precisely identified documents were lendered backed L
with evidence by uny of the prosceution withesses o situale that the delendants
presented any of those allegedly false or forged documents s penuine with
wy wre forged and that they did so dishonestly or

redsen o believe that
fraudulently.
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Awain, 1 have carclully gone through the documentary evidenee tendered. and
e cannot siuae these documents. In the entire documents produced Trom the
Carporiie Allwirs Comimission (CAC) by PWI0, vide Exhibits PIS (1-18),
fone ol these UAC Forms coverad by these Counts was produced or evidence
refated to these specific decuments and the evidence of their Talsity piven,

Indeed even the wilness produced from the CAC. PWé only spoke Lo two
thocuments fled by a certain Barrister Ayo which do not form part af these
Counts. 1138 difficult 1o see how the clements of this olTinee can be determined

i a vacuum! | really wonder,

Mo [ hiad canlivr stawed while dealing with Count 14 that in the documents
lendered by the Forensic Analyst PW9Y vide Exhibit 114 (28) marked as X7, a
Form CAC 2.3 of particulars of Directors situating the appointment of
Ahmed Muhammed Sani and Amalbaha Kweku was attached bul this document
did not show any body was replaced as Dircctor and in law additions or
interpolaions cannol be made to it Sce Section 128 of the Evidence Act.

Again on these three Cownts. there is nothing belore the courl, prima facie,
denoting that the 3" delondan used any CAC decuments that is foraed o=
penuine and knowing them w be lorged and again the courl cannot speculate.
Cn Counts 30, 31 and 32, the conclusion | alse reach is that no prima facie
case has been made owl providing Gem basis to call 3% defendant to enler a

dlenee.

Count 33 stites that the 3% delendant with others st large on or about 27"
Movember, 1998 [raodulontly used 83 genuine a lalse Malabo il and Gas
Limited Board Resolulion purporting o retain Alhaji Aliva Muhammed as
Muanaging Dircctor and Scidougha Munamuna as a8 Dircetor which he has

reason o beheve wys forped,

Again in the evidence, this decument or resolution delimeating these Tacls
under Count 33 was not tendercd and none of the witnesses of the proseculion
gave any iola of evidence that the 3™ defendant used this particular document ns
auning and knowing it to he [oreed.  PW6 from CAC never alluded in his
eyidenee o the presentation of this docoment ol CAC or present the records of
same 11 nsed as alleged. 11 no particular document subject of this eount was
whentified and evidenee siluating the Torgery delined and then evidence is led o
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show 10 was used a8 genuine. it will be difficult Lo situate the other elements ol

the allence and thal a prima facic case was made out ab initio.

The same [ale befulls Count 34 which aceuses 3 delendant snd others of
[rdulently using as genuine o false Malabu Oil and Gas Board Resolution
purporting to show new share holding structure of the company which he has

reason o believe was forped.

Agam this decument purportedly showing these new sharcholding structure
ul the company said (o have been made on or about 27" November, 1998 wis
nol tendercd  or evidence given of same by any of the witnesses of the
proseculion. Mothing was really advanced on the evidence to situate that the
#"delendant with others at large used any such document which is Torged as
genuine amd that be has reason 1o belicve it was lorged and did so dishonestly or
Pravdulently, 11 the basic questions of (1) identiTying or locating o particalar
document and (2) falsity, cannol be situaled on the basis of the evidence so Far
ledd, B i cledr thian the other elements of the offence will be diflicull Lo present

- this i Lum compromises the Counl,

| hold that on both Counits 33 and 34, the presceution has cqually not situated a
prima Tacie case apainst 3™ Delfendant regueiring him 1o enler o defenee,

Counts 38, 36 and 37 states that the 3"Delendant and others now al large on or
ubout 27 November, 1998 used as aenuine alse resignation letters purparied v
sighed by (1) Kwelu Amalagha (2) Alhaji Mubammed S, Ahmed and (3)
Adhaji Hassan T Wabi which he bas reason o believe was lorped

Again, the poinl must be made that none of these resignation letters said (o
have been made on o about 27" November, 1998 was tendered in evidenee by
the prosceution and none of the proseculion wilnesses spake or gave cvidence in
wse documents relating 1o the elements of falsity ol the documents,

melali

By Exhibits P18 (1-18), PW10 lendered documents abtained from CAC,  As
stited clsewhere in this Ruling, most of these decuments were caneelled by the
Cammission [or been issued without following due procedure.

Now by Exhibit P18(4), a cancelled letier of resipnation by Kweko Ama fagha
daged 9" July, 2000 was wendered.  There is nathing in cvidence before me
situating tha this letter of resignation is the one referred o in Count 35 which
was suid to have been made on or about 27" November, 1998,
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Mow by e evidenee of PWI0, this docament was presented al CAC by one
Barrister Ayo who PWID interneted with,  Yes. the document may have been
camcelled by CAC but not on the basis that it was o forgery as carlicr indicated.
Maost importantly as staled carlicr, the said Ayo was not called w give evidenee
and na link ol any Kind was on the evidence established with 3" Delendant or

the onher delendans on this Count,

Ihe ahove position or analysis above similarly applics.wo (he resignation letter
af Alhaji Hassan Hindo Wabi covercd by Count 37, 'This resignalion is
Eyhibit P18 63y and is dated 9™ June, 2000 and also cancclled. 11 was also
présented by the said Barrister Ayo, Lere too nothing was presented to situate
that the document is foreed and thal it wag found in possession of 3 Defendant
or that the 3™ Defendant @l any time presented this document [ound 1o be false as
permine which ¢learly undermines the Count with respeet 1o making oul 4 prima

e TS

With respect i Count 36, and as stted while dealing with Count 22, nonc ol
the prosceution witnesses specifically gave evidence relating 1o the falsity ol the

=il

alleged Teier ol resignation o Alkaji Mubammed 5. Ahmed or that 3
Detendant used or presented il ag genuine (o gain an advantage or cause loss w
anvhody,  Tndeed this letler was not even tendered w prove the allegation

covered by Count 36.

In my considiation of Count 22, 1 alluded (o the Tact that the resignation letier
ol Alhagi Mubamimed 8. Ahmed appeared in the documents [endered by the
Fovensic Analvst vide Exhibit P14 (1-33). ‘The resignation letter is I'.xhlhll
14 (18) and marled X but {rom the evidenee of PWY, Exhibit P14 (18) or

wis omly wsed i determining the genuinencss ol the signasture of PWLE - No
e, Ve remil of the assignment of PWY did not include determining whether
the decument was [oreed and used as genuine by 3% Defendant,  PW9 never
suicl s6 i his evidenee and he infact made no such allusions al all 1 anybody

using such o document for any purpose whatsoever,

I thit elear contexl, it is clear thal cven on this Counl, the proseculion has nol
! : i
silnated elenr clements of the offence to warrant the call W be made 1o 3%

Defendant to enter a delence,
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G the whole as demonstruled above, on the basis of the elements 1@ susiain
T

these Counts, o prima facic case has nol been made oul o wirean! 1
delendant to enter a defence on Counts 35, 36 and 37, 1 0 hold.

Count 38 stales thal the 3" Defendant on or aboug 185 IDecember, 2006 in Abuja
with others at larpe used as genuine a [alse Malaby Ol and Gas Board
Hesolution re-allocating Pecos ordinary shares 1o Joscph Amaran which he his

reasun to believe was forped,

[lere too as in most ol the Counts ol this charge, this particular Board
Resolution re-allocating Pecos Energy shares to Joscph Amaran was
similarly nol on the evidence tendered 10 situate the falsity ane the necessary
link 1o 3™ delendunt 1w ostublish, gt least prima [acie, the imgredicnts of the
alfcnce under Section 366, PWA4, Chicl Fasawe of Pecos Energy did not pive
any relevant evidence relating Lo this resolwion, Again a Courl of law cannol
hold that o prima facic case has been cstablished in such very unclear
circumstances compromiscd by a dearth of evidence of any kind, cven il
minimal, | hold that o prima lacie case has nol been made out on Count 38,

Count 39 states that the 3" defendant and others sl large on or about 12"

Auvgust, 2011 used as a genuwine & Malabu Qil and Gas Beard resolution
uthorising (he opening of domiciliary accounts with First Bank and Kevstone
Bank Mig. L which he has reason 1o beliove was [orged. Count 40 oi the
ather hand stules that the same delendants used as penuine a Malabu Oil Board
Resolution authorizing the opening of a current sccount with Keystone Bank (o
which Chiel Dovice Toya Fiete would be sole signatory which he hag reason to

behicve was Torged

Mow [ had carlier made the point thal no specific Board resolations covered
by these Counts were really specifically tendered in evidenee, | had however
silualed Trom the docoments endered by olficials of the Keystone and Virst
Bunk, PWT and PWS rcsolulions product of o General mecting ol 4"
Lefendant and not the Hoard, Agmn as stated earlier, none of these wilnesses in
their evidence impugned in any form or shape the integrity of these docaments
used i opening the accounts,

Again s stated when treating Counts 25 and 26, nothing was presented by the
proseculion showmg even i prima [acie that these resolutions were Galse or
forged and that they were presented ns penuine to canse injury, loss or henelit,
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I the evidence of PWT and PWE the oflicials from Keystone and First Bank,
we hid scen that they made the peint that all the documents tendered to ppen
Ui Malabu il Aceounts were in order and the tansactions conducted on the
Accounts were nol suspicious, | had cqually refemed w the evidenee of PWS,
wha stated that ot the mectings and negotiations which led 10 the settlement of
the dispute around OPL 245, the 3 Delendant and Chicl Dan Fete represciied
the interest ol 4" Defendant. This scttlement resolution obviously led 1o the
payments made and the opening ol the accounts subjeet of these two (2) Counts,

A stated carlier, as ot the tme the accounts were opened in 2001 the key
proseeution wilnesses PW L-PW4 were really not part of 4" Delendant,  They
were thus net in any position 1o say or talk on what ranspired al the Board or
even the General meeting o 4 Defendant which they were nol & part il

Agiin beyend bare speculations, nothing was really put forward providing basis
to hoeld that o prima lacic case was raised showing that the resolutions were

. 1 3
Forged and presented as genuine by 3% Delendant,

More allegations, no matter how weighty, do not translale w or are tuntamount
tor aets and evidence that will ot least raise o prima facie case, even 17 weak, 1o
necessitule @ response from the 3™ Defendant, My Nindings here o i3 that &

prime Faeie cose was nol diselosed on Counts 39 and 40,

As | round up and becanse of the rather unlorlunale narrative relating 1o the
lenpth o time of nearly four (4) vears Tor Lhe proseculion Lo produce all their
witnesses (0 prool ol this case, il appears 1o me imperative (o eall on leamed
proseeuling counsel 1o show maore circumspeetion in filing charses of this
nature. il the evidence on record is oll they have, Filing of eriminal charees in
cotrt which involves the liberty of individualis) is a delicate exercise that must
be carried oul wilh a huge sence ol responsibility dictated solely by the quality
althe faets and or evidence and the ullimate cavse of truth and justice,

A charge must therclore not be fled [or the simple sake ol doing o or to soothe
the cgo of any person or institution. A prosecuting counsel must in the exereise
ol his or her dutics bear this principle in mind. Tl or she must be {im and
courageous and nol give room o anhealthy influenees that betrays the cause ol
jstice. Withaut being overtly presumpluous, o prosceuting counsel must as 15
said m populur parlance “own’ and drive the process.  The quetlity ol the
aviailuble evidence must dictale solely the judgment eall (o file a charpe and Lo
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prosecute, Where the evidence is weak, tenous o unreliable, then a prosecutor
must have Lthe conviction o sct on i, and the courage 10 stand by it
nobwithstanding e meonvemence that may likely arise in taking such a stand,

A lutide tral predicated on frivelous charges docs o lot of incaleulable damage
W the eriminal justice system in terms of time and resources spent which could
hive been better utilised in more productive cuuses.  While the action of
prosecuting counsel in coneeding that they have not made 2 cuse againgt 1",
2", 4", 5" 6" and 7" Defenidsints is to be commended., it canrol be rghl or
fair that it wek the prosceotion nearly 4 vears 10 realize that it had no case
against 17, 2" 4™ 5% 6" and 7" Defendanis. 1 incline to the view that the way
this case was presented here by the prosceution against the Delendants both in
terms o the formulation of a large and unwicldy 40 Counts charge und the
dearth in the quality of evidence presented appears to seek to turn upside
down the cherished constitutional presumplion of innocence in Gvour of the
efendants by ending 1o suppose that it is for the defendants 1o prove their
innocence rather than for the prosceution to present ut this stage a prima lacic
cuse requirng Lhe delendants 1o pul up u response,

As already demonstrated. the making of a prima Gicie case by 1he prosceution
in this case appears here 1o have been made more in the final address of the
prosecution predicated on speculations rather than on the hasis ol the evidence
clicited at triad,. An addressof counsel cannol however take the place ol the
evidenee reguired Lo make upa prima [acie ease. No amount of brillianee in o
[nal address can make up G the lack of evidence required 1o siluate a prima
laeie case in low sullicient 1o call on the defendants 1o enter their defence,

A tral judge cannol deeide issues on speculations no matter how close whal it
relies on may scem to the facts. On the awthoritics ol our SUperior courts,
specutulion is nol an aspeel of inference that may be drawn lrom Facts that gre
lnid before the courl. Inference is o repsonable deduction from facls whereas
specilition is o mere variont of imaginative cucss which, even when it APPCHrS
plausible. should never be allowed by a court of law to (G any hiatus in the
evidence hefore i See Owverseas Construction Co. Lid V. Creek
Enterprises Lid (1983) 16 NSCC,

A Court cannol therelore speculate or draw inlerence in a vacuum but anly in

relation Lo lacts which justily such mlerence.
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The point 1w underseore. is that even at the stage of situating o prima facie case,
s not expeeted of the defendants o purge thenselves of euilt since the
Fendamental laow of the country, the constitution avails them ol the presumplion
ol innocence all through the wial process as carlier stated.  The point cannol
therelore be overemphasizcd that the prosccution  must accordingly only
proceed on the elear basis that there is sullicient evidence or probable cause 1o

proceed at cach slage ol the prosceutorial process.

Though it may be arguned that peaple can be arrestes circumstantially; Butl cvery
Irial, moreso @ eriminal tdal is a dilferent ball game, which must be undertaken
with utmust care and atlention to the quality of the evidence and availability of

Wilnesses,

It cannot hie vight ar Fair that in this case, for example, with about 30 Counts in
lhe charge sheet involving forpery, the documents stibject of these counts were
not presented in evidenee and no material evidence was led 1o siigate the
clements of lorgery. 11 as stated by the lead investigator, PWI0 that they
demanded  for about 37 documents from CAC bt only a few were made
avarlable, this then begs the question, why a charge would be filed invalving
Ibese doeuments whea the proseeution does not have aceess 1o these eritical

documents subject of the allegation of lorgery?

I must therelore make the point that the whole trial process, whatever its
inherent imperfection, is entirely evidence driven: cvidence wilh reguired
qualily and probative value. ‘Thal is so, whether it is a1 this stage ol siluating a
prima Geic case, us in the present situation, or at the final slage ot poinl of
determining puilt or otherwise of the defendants. Without evidence. in cither of
the Two situations. il is stating the sell” evidenl that sueh § easc stands

compramused e iwtio, 1 leave icat thal.
Un the whole. the prosceution has failed to prove the essential clements of the

ollenees loe which the Defendants were charged and accardingly, the no case
o answer submission has considerable merit and must be sustgined.

P allow ihis procecdings 1o continue, having regard 1o the Lotality ol the
evidente faid hare on the record by the proseeation, is to infict undue hardship
and injustice on the defendants, They aught not to have slood this irial in the
lirst place, il the evidence on record was all the proseeution had to oller. | SiLy
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Ihe legal consequence of a successful submission of no case o answer is il
such a discharge is cquivalent 10 an acquittal and a dismissal of the charpe on
the merits. Sce Theziako V. State (1989) 1 CLRN 123; Nwali V. 1GI* (14956 |1
ERMER; Mohammed V. The State 29 NSCOR 634 at 640,

In the final analysis, and lor the aveidance of doubt, my firm decision, on the
hitsis of the provision of Section 302 of ACJA 2015 is that the evidence
adduced by the prosecution en record is not sullicient 1o justify the continustion
ol this trial. In other words, the prosceution has [ailed Lo make oul 4 prima facic
case agamsl the defendants, in that they have lailed to tender regquired
minimum evidence o establish the essential elements of all the Counts 1 - 40 of
the ollences that they have been charged with respectvely.  For this reason |
hiereby preclude them rom entering wpon their defenee and accordingly, |
hereby dischorge the delendants ol the entircty of the charpe prefened against

taen,
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Apreireanoes:

I Nybvester Tahir, SAN, for the Provecution with (Hffem [ Uket, Chidike
Obasi-Chkca, S.N. Robert, JN. Dogonyare, ToA. Aromelavan and Firdansi

A Argungan

Chief KananAgabi, SAN, Paul Erokoro, SAN, Solomon Unieh, SAN, thon
Efut, SAN, Aliye Suiki, SAN, Oshopoghic Clris, SAN, for the 1
Defendunt with Benson Tpbanof, Roting Saemael lujide, Geadwin lyinghor,
LS Shankpla, Ahmed Bage, Ojochenemi Fatima Andu, ladimefi ().
Adebayo, luchie Vivian Uehe, Abdulmiz A, Saiki, Crift Obeten, Funice
Aghar, Sabine Lubaivn, 1D, Bob-Maunel, Ucheehi Cayenwe, Timileyin
Kehinde, (1 A Ewwena, Ifeanyi Ndumpmegn, Abasiodong feehovbade,
Dmannella Inde, Enunairgel Asabi, Vincent ffeachor, Aniebiet Abiasi-
Akpany, Maryam Agafi Lawan, amide €, Adebaya and Ruth 1,
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Chief Wale (Naniepkun, SAN, Chief LA, Adedipe, SAN, Dr. .Y, Musa,
SAN, Olulefan o, SAN, far the 2™ Defendant with F.C, Theji, Abubakar
Sarri, ML Oyinfokwu Aluned F. Yusuf, E.A. Ovnntease, (pe Muritala,
Kt Nmarlkwe, Cyothie Npabugwn, Mercy Udoh, € Ademedagun, F.C.
Awmredi, L Mfween and C.C Nwokoye.

Adeyenu Shekoni-Lawal, Aljye O, Hassan, Hussaini Mabera and Rilwarn
Bammighoye for the 3 Defendant,

RO, Arabo, SAN, for the 4 Defendant with R.A. Ughame (Mry.), A.G.
Harnna, Emmannel Okwoli, J.O. Anyata, P.A. Achurn, DA, Cayiochi

and [0 Mwolise,

Chief Jue-Kyari Gaezama, SAN, Chakwaka Howozom, SAN for fhe 5
Befendant with Ofujoke Aliya, DD, Kilti, Rashidet Banke Obamajure,
Clidera Ucliechi Mghe, Darlington Onyebowere, Inyene Robert, Madi Joe-
fyari Gudima, Okifemute Ohwawia, Linda Shaljoba, Lamar Joe-Kpari
Cadziima, Sava Jeta Atwmgn, Onyekachi Eluwa, Khadije Muhammed
Abubalkar, Hajara M8, Sarondoki, Victor Owl, Jaftada Madu, Mark Ayi-
Croi, Racireal Avanmde and Asiya Steclelique,

Cluseye Opasanya, SAN, for the 6" ana 7 Befendunty with A. V.M,
Theahimt Shafi'i (Ree), Bubatunde fge, Hifary Ofeke, Paniel Peter and
Clinveerin Lhinmikals,
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